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cHairlaDY’s cOMMentarY

Dr. itaH U KanDJii-MUrangi

As the market leader in the mobile telecommunications  
industry, as recognised by our nation - MtC invests heavily 
in the latest technology to keep namibia in line with 
global trends. And one of the significant component of 
that heavily investment is the Internet accessibility in order 
to narrows the digital divide; the divide which favours the 
more developed countries in stark contrast with lesser the 
developed countries worldwide.

In that regard, I am very proud of what MtC has achieved 
since its inception; covering namibia’s vast and less  
populated rural areas, which are economically less viable, 

while at the same time implementing tremendous efforts to  
realise network capacity and reliability in most urban  
areas. In this light, one of MtC’s strategic pillars is to  
provide Internet connectivity. to achieve this, MtC had to 
deploy thousands of kilometres of optic fibres across the 
country. Furthermore, being a member of a consortium 
of the most advanced submarine cable (WACS), we will  
connect namibians to any other location in the world in  
an affordable way at lightning speeds. 

All of these ambitions turned into reality because of a  
tremendous capacity of investment, the vision and  
knowledge to choose the perfect timing of technological  
advancements and having a strong, strategic partner 
with worldwide exposure to excel at our vision. last but 
not least, we have a strong and committed team of  
namibians to turn this vision into reality. Being Chairperson 
of the Board of Directors, and synchronising all of 
these critical components; is a reality that exceeded all  
my  expectations.

Moving forward, I foresee extreme challenging resolutions 
to improve what we already have achieved. I can understand 
that the telecommunications Industry has more challenges 
than other industries, because of digitalisation challenging 
networks to deploy higher speed connectivity; at the same 
time opening disruptive entities which will arise in addition 
to intensive investment. to overcome that, MtC needs to 
tackle each challenge in the best way so as to maintain 
long-term sustainability.

As a final remark, on behalf of the Board of Directors, I would 
like to acknowledge all MtC’s dedicated staff with the  
executive Committee chaired by the MD at its helm. All  
the milestones and the financial performance which you  
have delivered during the time of review, are truly  
remarkable. I personally thank all of our namibian and  
portuguese Directors, it is an honour and a pleasure to 
serve with you.

Dr. Itah U Kandjii-Murangi.
Chairlady
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Managing DirectOr’s 
Overview

namibia’s economy has impacted positively on the  
disposable income of its people due to several factors. 
that is the pillar of a year’s extraordinary financial  
performance. However, it is crucial to stress that MtC was  
very able to capture a valuable slice of that available 
disposable income by accelerating innovative initiatives in 
its offers to the market, increasing the more-value-for- 
money concept to consumers.

Multi devices are becoming central and impact all aspects 
of our lives. Due to this phenomenon, active subscribers are 
still increasing, with multi devices being led by smartphones, 
followed by devices enabling mobile Internet connectivity 
via a computer, and hovering in the middle, the tablets.
 

MigUel geralDes 

Anticipating the exploding demand for data, MtC  
deployed advanced, faster (HSpA+ and lte) and high  
capacity networks to meet customer needs over the last 
few years. I have to emphasise, that today we are not 
only delivering one of the most advanced mobile data  
networks on the continent, on par with developed regions, 
but are also well-prepared for the data demand tsunami 
that will arise over the next 3 to 5 years. All the tremendous  
investments and efforts in terms of infrastructural  
improvements, the submarine cable, the national fibre 
backbone, the advanced 3G SingleRAn and the 4Glte 
radio networks, as well as the migrated Ip core systems, 
are evident in the delivery of excellent mobile bandwidth.

looking at the data volume usage produced on MtC’s  
network, a constant increase of usage is apparent. It is 
noteworthy that the growth is 1.3 fold, comparing volume 
usage from September 2013 to September 2012. With 
that, MtC surpassed one quarter of revenue generated 
from data, underpinning the stream revenue direction  
migration from voice to data.
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It is notable that the 4Glte uptake at yearend review, is 
more than 35% of data traffic. MtC decided to deploy 
4Glte, being the second on the continent to do so and 
at the same time more than the most advanced networks 
in the world. even without having a wide variety of smart-
phones that are lte enabled because suppliers are lagging 
behind in bringing them to our region, MtC reached a re-
markable level that can be compared to the most advanced 
markets in the world.

With the business model being transformed from voice 
to data, any industry would face severe disruption. the 
Mobile Industry is assisting the ott’s (over-the-top), using 
its operator infrastructure ecosystems with innovative and 
agile systems and are providing a substitute to traditional 
services without additional cost to the consumer. Although 
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Mobile operators have ways to charge data usage from 
customers, the challenge is how to mitigate losses from 
traditional services and capture those losses into the 
operator charge for pipe usage. the transformation 
framework enables operators to deploy more innovative 
packages in order not to become an unsustainable dump 
pipe, i.e. an operator’s network is being used simply 
to transfer bytes between the customer’s device and  
the Internet. 

the late founder of Apple convinced us that we have to 
start with the customer experience and work backwards 
to the technology and not to start with the technology 
and towards who would buy that technology. that vision 
invented the smartphone of our days, and amongst others, 
explained what counts most; the incredible benefits a 
technology company can offer the customer. Because 
we believe that Steve Jobs was and is right, we at MtC 
believe that technology is a means to an end.  We base our 
business of introducing technology to deliver services that 
improve the lives of people and make our customers more 
efficient in moving forward. that is evident in our quest to 
introduce groundbreaking technologies in namibia, the 
most recent being 4Glte. We use the same mindset when 
we introduced a package such as “Super Aweh”, through 
which we introduced an uSSD structured menu from 
which a customer can select a preferred package. then we 
introduced vending machines in our own stores whereby 
customers can easily pay their postpaid invoice or make 
direct top-ups to a prepaid account with notes and coins.
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ultimately, MtC would like to unleash and deliver technology 
for innovation potential. our core focus is the infrastructure 
potential. If we want to translate those investment and efforts 
into products and services and then into superior customer 
experience, then we need to transform our It systems as 
well. Based on that vision, MtC introduced an tremendous 
transformation in its B/oSS (operational/ Business Support 
Systems). this can be explained in layman’s terms that all 
the It platforms that support our operations on the network 
as well as supporting our business with customer–facing 
activities of which the most important application is billing, 
is being modernised. this transformation process was 
named MtCXXI, based on the vision that this next step will 
accommodate MtC’s future needs beyond the 21st century. 
Important to note, is that this new B/oSS will reach a balanced 
ecosystem with a problem solving methodology which will 
exponentially increase the efficiency of operational support 
(oSS) underpinned with technology integrated views of our 
customer touch points (BSS). 

tHe MarKet
During the period under the review, MtC added a total of 
176,281 new active SIM Connections, passing through the 
2.2 million mark, the equivalent of namibia’s population. 
nevertheless, that statistic represents that active SIM 
connections now are increasing at single digit increments, 
showing the level of the market at this moment.
 
As I mentioned several times, but need to reiterate, 
multi SIM cards connecting multi devices, cellphones, 
smartphones, tablets, and computers per customer is the 
main reason of MtC’s customer base being larger than 
the population. However, we need to underline that MtC 
connects the possible unconnected.
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tHe regUlatOrY envirOnMent
the year under review brought some new developments 
in terms of the regulatory framework under the guidance 
of the Communications Regulatory Authority of  
namibia (CRAn).

the dominant positions were determined, and MtC 
together with the incumbent Fixed and now also Mobile 
operator, are now deemed “Dominant”. CRAn used a single 
market opposite to developed market trends, and exempt 
the smaller players from the criteria defined by the Act. 
Although MtC believes that this might impact negatively on 
innovation, especially in terms of next generation networks, 
we have to support CRAn’s objectives of speeding up the 
implementation of electronic communication networks 
by promoting the sharing of infrastructure. Keeping that 
perspective in mind, MtC believes that the obligations 
of the dominant operators should be separating passive 
and active infrastructure obligations - the first mentioned 
already is a remarkable achievement.

on the topic of regulation, at the end of the reviewed year, 
mobile and fixed termination rates as agreed between the 
major players, dropped to n$0.20. termination rates are 
decreasing all over the world, and likewise in namibia, big 
changes were brought about between 2009 and 2011, when 
the rates were dropped with n$0.30. However, no significant 
financial impacts are expected for this movement, because 
MtC already accommodated its losses in the previous years.
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strategic pOstUring
You must have heard from someone that in general all 
companies are able to define well “What they do”, i.e. what 
service(s)/product(s) that they deliver. However, what is not 
so easily done is that a company can explain clearly “How 
they do/make” their service(s)/product(s) become available 
to their customers. What is very unlikely, is that a company 
can explain exactly “Why they do what they do”. And that 
Why is a purpose of, or the cause of a company.

In MtC we know exactly “What we do”. It is very easy: 
providing telecommunication services. Also, we know 
“How we do” this. It is to provide excellent communication 
services. “Why we do what we do” is because MtC believe 
that we can use technology to deliver services to improve 
lives of people and make them more efficient going forward. 
this might be theoretical, but in reality it works because the 
idea is for our customers to use our service because of why 
we deliver, not what we deliver and neither how we deliver.
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the explosion in demand by users for voice, sms and 
data services, during the last three years, placed MtC’s  
infrastructure under tremendous pressure. Just in the year 
under review, data volume usage duplicated, reaching 
1.2 Gigabit per second! technology like 4G/lte, the Ip  
backhauls through fibre or microwave systems, the metro 
rings and the national fibre backbones through the  
DWDM 40G (Dense Wavelength Division Multiplexing),  
with connections to the undersea cable West Africa  
Coast System (WACS) were highly relevant projects that  
continuously expanded during the year under review.

nevertheless, this deep reshaping of our infrastructure 
required tremendous investment, which was needed for 
sustainability in the long term. notwithstanding that, this 
tremendous infrastructure required more demand to be 
managed, and all the operational support systems were 
needed to provide all the information required by the  
operational team to keep the network highly reliable 
and in top level performance. A critical highlight was the  
relationship with the technological partners, with whom 
MtC needed to align and continuously strive to improve all 
the SlA’s in place.

A relevant initiative was the expansion of 4G/lte, in May 
2013, bringing very high internet speeds to eight towns in 
regions outside Windhoek. 4G/lte is the 4th Generation 
(4G) of wireless technology, providing MtC the capability 
to deliver speed (downlink and uplink) ten times faster, 
lower latency (the time an internet request takes to  
return to the sender), ten times more users accommodated 
at the same base station compared to 3G, better in-door  
coverage in urban areas due to lower frequency than 3G, and 
the possibility to provide high internet speed in rural areas 
covered with the same that we currently have with voice and 
sms due to the lower frequencies. All of this shows that 4G/
lte is the correct and most efficient technology to face the  
tsunami of data usage.

tHe tecHnOlOgY  
envirOnMent

the major milestone initiatives during the year under  
review are the following:

•	 	 Re-enforcing	redundancy	of	international	connectivity	 
  via WACS and SAt-3 submarine cables, providing  
  high capacity international internet connectivity via  
  lisbon, london and Cape town.

•	 	 The	 National	 Fibre	 DWDM	 Backbone	 connecting	 
  the WACS landing point from Swakopmund to  
  Windhoek, to Velloorsdrift at the South African  
  border and reaching oshakati in the north of namibia.  
  the backbone will be further expanded in 2014 to  
  Rundu and Katima, and redundancy enforced. All the  
  main regions from north to South and from West to  
  east will be served.

•	 	 The	implementation	of	4G/LTE	in	eight	towns	outside	 
  Windhoek, namely Swakopmund, Walvis Bay,   
  oshakati, otjiwarongo, ongwediva, tsumeb, uutapi,  
  and Keetmanshoop.

•	 	 Expansion	of	Core	Network	Systems	(HLR/HSS,	MSC,	 
  MGW, epC).

•	 	 Implementation	 of	 CSFB	 (Circuit	 Switch	 Fall	 Back)	 
  enabling 3G voice calls in lte Smartphones.

•	 	 DPI	System,	was	implemented	in	Feb/2013,	provides 
   a valuable help improving Quality of Service for 
   Internet Services, via traffic Shaping by Deep packet 
   Inspection. It is a crucial component for all operators  
  to control the data usage tsunami.

•	 	 RAN	SWAP	Project,	 replacing	Base	Stations	by	new	 
  technology in all regions outside Windhoek,  
  encompassing a phased implementation planned for  
  3 years. the north and most of the central regions  
  of namibia and the Coastal area of Swakopmund and  
  Walvisbay were implemented at end 2012 and end  
  2013, and the southern regions will follow to conclude  
  the project at end 2014.
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•	 	 Preparation	of	MTC	ICT	Strategic	Plan	for	evolution	of	 
  Business and operational Systems. Implementation  
  started end 2012 and will be completed by 2015.

•	 	 Telco	 in	 a	 Box	 Project,	 one	 of	 the	 results	 of	 ICT	 
  Strategic plan, was started in January 2013 involving  
  all MtC departments in an intensive way. the  
  equipment is now installed in the prosperita Building.  
  there are a considerable number of benefits for MtC  
  with the new systems. In brief, postpaid and prepaid  
  will be provided by a convergent system, and both  
  with real-time charging and control. the Business  
  Support Systems (CRM, provisioning, etc) are  
  integrated, considerably improving the flow, control  
  and speed of a customer request from a Mobile Home  
  or Customer Contact Centre.

•	 	 New	 Operational	 Support	 Systems	 (OSS)	 were	 
  deployed from December 2012 to April 2013,  
  according to ICt Strategic plan, namely Alarm  
  Management, order Management, trouble ticketing  
  and network Inventory.

•	 	 Network	 Performance	 Management	 (ALTAIA)	 was	 
  implemented and live from December 2012, providing  
  online thousands of performance Indicators on all  
  2G, 3G and 4G services, from now to any previous  
  one year period enabling checking evolution of KpIs.

•	 	 Completion	 of	 the	 new	 Data	 Centre	 in	 MTC’s	 
  prosperita Building, and installation of telco in a Box  
  Systems and Core network Redundancy (HlR/HSS,  
  MSC, MGW, epC).

•	 	 Design	 of	 the	 Business	 Continuity	 and	 Disaster	 
  Recovery Strategy to implement from 2014 to 2016. 

wHat else? 
the future is always built from the past and present.  
permanent monitoring of network KpIs (Key performance 
Indicators) as well as Quality of Service (KQI-Key Quality 
Indicators) (e.g. Drop Call Rate, Call Setup Successful  
Rate, Benchmark campaigns, and many others) with  
actions at all levels from the entire technical team, assures 
customer service levels according to the world’s best  
telecommunication practices. Redundancy of network, 
service platforms and business support systems, is in  
the roadmap being built for re-enforcing customer  
experience and guaranteeing business continuity.  
Advanced communication services and solutions are also 
being continuously monitored within standardisation  
bodies and industry best practices for opening new  
revenue streams and for enhancing customer loyalty, e.g. 
Voice over lte, Rich Communication Services, Fibre to the 
Customer, Cloud Services and many more.
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cOMMercial OperatiOns

MtC’s commercial operation has the objective to translate  
technology investments into revenues in a way that  
provides relevant products and services, making MtC 
customers more effective and help them moving forward. 
the relevant services need to accommodate and efficiently 
support our customers so that our customers benefit from 
the full set of services that we are providing.

thus, the commercial operation articulates the product and  
services developers, who design targeted offers for our 
customers, supported by country-wide touch contact 
points, stores, a comprehensive field force, and a 24-hour 
Customer Contact centre, enabling them to access and 
enjoy proper and timely support with regard to MtC’s 
services and products.

During the current financial year, an extraordinarily popular 
package was introduced to the prepaid segment. the 
“Super Aweh” extended beyond the offer of the Aweh 
family package. By spending n$50 per week a customer 
has access to 700 voice minutes, 1500 smses, and 100 
megabytes of data. this package caters for the customer 
requiring the use of all these services without being 
charged an arm and a leg for it. this significant segment 
of customers perceived the relevance of this package very 
well. As was already mentioned, this package delivers 
a highly relevant offer to a critical segment and allows a 
customer access at affordable rate in contrast with what is 
being offered by the ott’s using our network.

to the household segment, MtC introduced SmartShare, 
a combined Internet Home, (with the benefit of unlimited 
Wi-Fi at home) and up to three mobile packages for family 
members. tailor-made to everyone’s needs, this multi-
package provides real savings. our vision of “Why we 
do what we do” is confirmed with developing relevant 
applications through our MtC website in order to facilitate 
customer interaction and also to support our touch points 
of customer contact. this way we are able to simulate which 
package fits the needs of a household, understanding 
clearly what discounts a family may receive.

the MtC sub-brand, netMan, is a product providing 
bandwidth for internet usage. A new package with a very 
strong television advertising campaign was implemented 
during the reviewed year. netMan Home provides the 
fastest, uncapped* Internet access to households at 
speeds of up to 100 Megabytes per second. *MtC protects 
its network as well as making sure that other customers are 
not negatively affected - high users may have a decrease 
in speed when the Fair use policy threshold is reached. 
this measure is not because MtC will not allow unlimited 
data usage at high speeds, but unfortunately the wireless 
technology simply is not designed to allow such extremes. 
notwithstanding that, MtC’s Fair use policy is very generous 
in terms of the decreased speed and also the quantity of 
data that can be used.

* Fair use policy applies.



12

“leap FOrwarD” 
Facing a storm of demand for supporting customers 
who are exploring new devices, in particular advanced 
smartphones and tablets, also devices such as dongles 
and modems connecting computers to the Internet, MtC 
took a leap forward in opening a new “Customer Support 
Centre” in Windhoek, which provides a quick service 
shop with the sole focus on data support, rapid device 
repair, and trailing all the advance products supported by  
trained advisors.

Another exciting venture was the development of MtC’s 
vending machines installed in our MobileHomes country-
wide. these advanced vending machines provide customers 
aoint to pay their bills, directly top-up a prepaid account or 
to generate a pin code to recharge a prepaid account. this 
service makes our customers lives more convenient, so that 
instead of waiting in a queue, they can easily use a vending 
machine using cash notes or coins.
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tHe HUMan capital

HUMan capital 
With the evolution in the telecommunications industry, 
competition for skills has increased and we find ourselves 
competing for such skills globally. the emphasis on human 
capital therefore remains top of our strategic agenda as its 
contribution to business success is paramount.

talent ManageMent
In an effort to ensure we retain key talent, MtC has 
revamped its talent management strategy to ensure that 
it is fit for purpose. to supplement the strategy, we have 
continued putting an emphasis both on the job training 
and life-long training to ensure that our employees are 
empowered with the necessary skills which will enable them 
to become successful in life whether at MtC or elsewhere, 
with an investment of a n$ 2.5 million training budget. 

scHOlarsHips
MtC’s scholarship program has continued to produce 
world class graduates. the success of the program is 
attributed to the fact that it is coupled with integrated 
learning throughout the students’ academic program 
at the institution of higher learning. All of the students 
on the program continue to ply their trade at MtC, who 
help them with their practicals and eventually to  do well. 
MtC continues to invest an amount of n$ 500,000 every 
year in taking on new students while maintaining the other 
students on the program. to date all the students on the 
program has received full time employment contracts from 
MtC making it a worthy investment to develop from within. 

HOUsing assistance initiatives
the issue of housing is very important to MtC, and to 
date we have implemented two different housing schemes 
namely the Standard Bank Home loans scheme where MtC 
assists its employees with collateral which enables them to 
qualify for home loans to build their dream homes. the  
other scheme is the FnB pension backed home loan 
scheme that allows employees to borrow against their 
pension to put a roof over their heads and their families. 
our philosophy remains that if our employees have happy 
homes, it will filter through to their performance at work.

eMplOYMent eQUitY
MtC continues to be one of the leading corporates  
driving affirmative action and employment equity as a  
voluntary strategic initiative rather than simply complying. 
During the past year we have fully complied with the  
required Affirmative Action Report as was the case with all 
previous years. We have in addition ensured that effective 
and measurable skills development and transfer clauses 
are in place when we sign with international suppliers so 
that we empower our people. our staff attended various 
international conferences in China, uSA, South Africa,  
Barcelona and portugal to give them  
international exposure.

institUte OF peOple ManageMent  
OF naMiBia (ipM)
MtC has continued to invest in the Institute of people 
Management of namibia with an annual sponsorship of  
n$ 90,000 to ensure that the Institute carries out its mandate 
of professionalising the human resources profession in 
namibia. the Institute of people Management successfully 
held its 3rd Annual Conference last year where pertinent 
HR issues were discussed including the long awaited 
national HR Strategy for namibia which was hailed as an 
important strategic step for the country.

HealtH & saFetY
Health and safety continued to remain top priority in 
all business aspects of MtC. We have successfully  
implemented the occupational Health & Safety man-
agement system which has ensured that we manage  
all safety aspects with due diligence. We have also main-
tained our ISo 9001:2008 certification which keeps us  
accountable to comply with international safety and quality 
standards at all times.
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tHe cOrpOrate sOcial  
investMent prOgraMMe

the Corporate Affairs department has continued to stand 
out as being the most socially responsible department in 
namibia with strategic investments that uplifts communities 
and build the nation.

spOrts DevelOpMent
MtC has continued to be the biggest investor in sports  
development in namibia with an investment of over n$ 18 
million towards soccer, athletics and boxing. MtC is the 
main sponsor of the MtC namibia premier league, the MtC 
nestor Sunshine Boxing Academy and the Dr Sam nuyoma 
Marathon. the MtC nestor Sunshine Boxing Academy 
has received various international accolades which include 
the honours of the World Boxing organisation’s African 
Boxing Academy of the Year. our investment into sport  
is important because we believe that it not only brings 
people together but it also serves as a tool to unite  
communities.

DrOUgHt relieF assistance
During 2013, MtC has continued its partnership with the 
Red Cross Society of namibia. the Red Cross Society of 
namibia and MtC have over the past year worked vigorously 
to establish a permanent solution to the flood and drought 
problem recurring in namibia, through the establishment 
of a Drought Relief Fund.  In 2013 our country was once 
again hard hit by severe drought. MtC made an amount 
of n$ 100 000 available to assist our government and our 
people affected by the drought. 

sUppOrting sMe DevelOpMent
MtC values the importance of the SMe sector in namibia, 
and to show its support MtC remained the main sponsor 
of the namibia Chamber of Commerce annual SMe  
Conference with a total investment of n$ 90,000. MtC 
has supported last year’s theme of the “Growth at Home”  
strategy and has thus continued to be a founding  
member of team namibia, whom we believe supplements 
the Growth at Home strategy. our support to these two  
strategically placed institutions assists them in carrying 
out their mandate successfully.

naMiBia annUal MUsic awarDs
the namibia Annual Music Awards is namibia’s biggest 
music festival celebrating and recognising namibian 
musical talent with over 800 artists participating. MtC has 
invested an amount of n$ 4.8 million in 2013 in celebration 
of this course. the event celebrates our diversity in music 
and brings over 5000 people together and a further  
500,000 live tV audience. We are confident that 
music continues to be the most effective way to bring 
people together and thus our support to the namibian  
music industry. 

Mtc naMiBia spOrts awarDs
the MtC namibia Sports Awards is an annual national 
event that recognises all sportsmen and women in namibia 
under one roof. this year MtC made history by inviting 
the prolific and progressive Fikile Mbalula, South African  
Minister of Sports & Recreation to address the audience. 
MtC is the main sponsor of the MtC nSC Awards and  
invested an amount of n$ 450,000 in the awards last year. 

traDe Fairs
In 2013, MtC was by far the largest benefactor of  
Commercial trade Fairs and exhibition in namibia. our 
teams of Sales Advisors and marketers attended over  
seventeen shows countrywide from afar as oranjemund in 
the Karas Region to Katima Mulilo in Zambezi Region.

MtC is the main sponsor of the ongwediva Annual 
trade Fair (oAtF), with an investment of over n$450 000  
annually. We have actively maintained our presence at 
these trade fairs because of the intrinsic value it brings 
to the respective communities as we view it as part of our  
duty to actively promote economic activities within the 
various towns. Annually, MtC invests over n$1,3 million in 
support and participation at various shows and trade fairs 
across the country.
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tHe Financial Year
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2013

With the clear strategy to maintain the current customer 
base and ensure 60% of new activations with customer 
offerings resulted in good financial results. the stable 
political and economic environment and peace in namibia 
also contributed to the solid financial performance of MtC 
with growth across all key financial indicators. 

the most relevant challenge for MtC during the current 
financial year was the fact that the namibia Dollar depreci-
ated dramatically against the uS dollar, and also the euro, 
affecting the cost of foreign technology supplies.

revenUe 
Revenue grew by 13.3% to n$ 1.8 billion (2012 n$ 1.6 bil-
lion), with contributions from both revenue groups; post 
and pre-paid. the strong control of operating expenses 
resulted in a growth of 17,2% (2012:11%) in the eBIDtA 
Margin.

Post Paid Prepaid

MtC subsCRibeRs nuMbeRs ‘000

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

40.2

36
3.

6
48.3

50
7.

2

66.7

67
6.

8

82.2

92
6.

4

94.8

11
88

.7

101.3

14
33

.2

110.1

17
44

.6

120.4
128.0

19
22

.1

21
41

.5

sUBscriBers
the MtC active subscriber base continued to grow by 11% 
to 2.269 million (2012: 10% 2.042 million).

terMinatiOn rate
the decrease of termination rates as per the Regulator’s 
rules resulted in the following applicable rates. Because 
termination rates were very low, this new drop did not  
influence either the volume of traffic or the namibia dollars 
turnover on the year on year comparison.

teRMination Rates n$

Jan ‘10 Jul ‘10 Jan ‘11 Jul ‘11 Jan ‘12 Jul ‘12 Jan ‘13 Nov ‘13

0.50
0.40

0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30 0.30
0.20

Revenue 2012

1%

31% Postpaid

Other

56%

4%

5%

3%

Prepaid

Interconnect

Roaming
Handsets

Revenue 2013

56%

4%

5%

3%

1%

31%

Prepaid

Postpaid

Other
Interconnect

Roaming
Handsets
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tuRnoveR anD ebita

MaRgins ebita%

Revenue EBITDA - Accounting
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8
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9
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EBITDA - Accounting EBITDA - Comparison 2008

2011

53%

47
%

2012

53%

47
%

2013

55%

48
%

2010

56%

50
%

54%

2009

49
%

eBitDa
An eBItDA margin remained above 50% as from 2011. 
eBIDtA growth from n$ 859.4 million to n$ 1007.0 million 
for the year under review is reported as a result of the 
increase revenues and a proper implementation cost 
management policies.

capital eXpenDitUre
MtC reinvested 101% of net profit after tax for the finan-
cial year under review. the investments were to renew the 
radio access network and provide own transmission to  
reduce network running cost. With the support of the por-
tugal telecom purchasing power, MtC leveraged scale 
benefits by moving the major procurement projects to  
portugal telecom procurement division.

MtC also embarked on transforming information technol-
ogy and billing systems to ensure upmarket service to the 
customers with the MtCXXI project.

Net profit after tax Total capex Intangible assets

2009

38
7

26
0

67

2010

39
7

41
0

80

2011

31
9

23
7

95
2012

35
3

33
1

10
5

2013

42
4

42
7

17
2

 accOUnting envirOnMent
the financial statements are compliant with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

sOcial cOntriBUtiOn
MtC aimed to support vision 2030 of the namibian Gov-
ernment to empower the namibian nation and decrease 
poverty. this was done through the MtC distribution of 
pre-paid airtime. the total number of direct and indirect 
dealerships was 3 500 for the year under review. Added to 
this number are 1 000 street vendors who earn a living via 
the selling of airtime.
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DiviDenDs paiD naD’s (‘000 000)

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

384.0

2 
62

5.
9

Income tax paid -  Accumulated Income tax paid - per annum

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

250.9

1 
64

5.
8

150.0

64
3.

0

111.0

75
4.

0

144.2

89
8.

2

145.4

1 
04

3.
6

1 
20

4.
1

160.5

1 
39

4.
9

190.8

inCoMe taX paiD

DiviDenD anD taX paiD
MtC maintained the dividend payment of 100% of net 
profit after tax to the shareholders. A positive cash balance 
to finance operating as well as capital expenditure was 
accounted for. All taxes been paid in compliance to 
namibian tax legislation.
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                                             Director                                                                       Director

                                             I Kandjii-Murangi                                                                      A M Ferreira Geraldes 

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY 
BY THE DIRECTORS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2013

The directors are responsible for monitoring the preparation of 

and the integrity of the financial statements and other informa-

tion contained in this annual report.  

In order for the board to discharge its responsibilities, manage-

ment has developed and continues to maintain a system of inter-

nal controls. The board has ultimate responsibility for the system 

of internal controls and reviews its operation primarily through 

the audit committee. 

The internal controls include a risk-based system of internal 

accounting and administrative controls designed to provide 

reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and that  

transactions are executed and recorded in accordance with  

generally accepted business practices and the group’s policies 

and procedures. These controls are implemented by trained, 

skilled personnel with an appropriate segregation of duties, 

monitored by management and include a comprehensive bud- 

geting and reporting system operating within strict deadlines  

and an appropriate control framework.  

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with  

International Financial Reporting Standards and incorporate  

responsible disclosure in lne with the accounting philosophy of 

the group. The financial statements are based on appropriate 

accounting policies consistently applied and supported by  

reasonable and prudent judgements and estimated. 

The directors believe that the company will be a going concern in 

the year ahead. For this reason they continue to adopt the going 

concern basis in preparing the annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements for the year ended 30 September 

2013 set out on pages 22 to 72 were approved by the Board of 

Directors on 3 December 2013 and are signed on its behalf by:
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We have audited the group annual financial statements and  

annual financial statements of Mobile Telecommunications Lim-

ited, which comprise the consolidated and separate statements 

of financial position as at 30 September 2013, and the consoli-

dated and separate statements of comprehensive income, the 

consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity and 

the consolidated and separate statements of cash flows for the 

year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting poli-

cies and other explanatory notes and the directors’ report, as set 

out on pages 22 to 72.  

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presen-

tation of these financial statements in accordance with Interna-

tional Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required 

by the Companies Act of Namibia, and for such in ternal control 

as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 

of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 

statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accor-

dance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards 

require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 

financial statements are free from material misstatement.

  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evi-

dence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor consid-

ers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 

of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluat-

ing the appropriateness of accounting principles used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management,  

as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 

statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion  

In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all  

material respects, the consolidated and separate financial position 

of Mobile Telecommunications Limited as at 30 September  2013, 

and its consolidated and separate financial performance and 

consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in  

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and 

in the manner required by the Companies Act of Namibia. 

Deloitte & Touche   

Registered Accountants and Auditors  

Chartered Accountants (Namibia) 

ICAN practice number: 9407   

Per: Jens Kock  

Partner  

PO Box 47

Windhoek

Namibia  

04 December 2013

Regional Executives:
LL Bam (Chief Executive), 

A Swiegers (Chief Operating Officer), GM Pinnock

Resident partners:
VJ Mungunda (Managing Partner), RH McDonald, J Kock, 

H de Bruin, J Cronje, A Akayombokwa, E Tjipuka

Director: G Brand

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF MOBILE TELECOMMUNICATIONS LIMITED
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2013

The directors herewith submit their report which forms part of  

the annual financial statements of the company and the group 

annual financial statements for the financial year ended 30 Sep-

tember 2013.  

 

Nature of Business  

MTC conducts business as a registered telecommunications 

provider. The principle nature of the business is to invest in the 

telecommunications infrastructure of Namibia for provisioning of 

total communication solutions to the customer base. Although 

MTC is an autonomous Namibian company, it also provides inter-

national telecommunication solutions through direct liaison with 

providers of telecommunication services worldwide. The nature 

of the business did not change during the year under review. 

The following business activities are conducted through subsidiaries: 

•	 Jurgens	34	(Pty)	Ltd  

 - Letting of property  

• Windhoek General Administrators (Pty) Ltd 

 - Dormant  

• MTC Social Responsibility Trust 

 - Trust established to harness resources for establishing and  

  maintaining infrastructure with the principal focus on the  

  care, welfare and support for children or orphans who can  

  not rely on the support of their parents and are homeless.   

  The trustees have decided to unwind the trust from 30  

  June 2009 onwards. As at 30 September 2013 the Trust  

  had a cash and cash equivalents balance of N$ nil (2012:  

  nil) and a trade and other receivables balance of N$ nil 

   (2012: N$ 300 061). The trust is in the process of being  

  deregistered.  

Financial results  

The results of operations are set out on page 24.  

The financial position of the group and company are set out in the 

statements of financial position on page 25.  

Group revenue for the year under review was N$ 1 831,8 million 

(2012: N$ 1 616,6 million) representing a growth of 13% over 

the prior year which was mainly as a result of the growth of the  

subscriber base and the launch of new products and services. 

Group profit from operations increased by N$ 151,2 million 

(2012: N$ 33 million) mainly due to increased subscriber base 

and demand for new products and services.

  Subscriber base 2013  2012

  Prepaid 2 141 481  1 922 147 

  Postpaid 128 020   120 448 

  Total 2 269 501  2 042 595

Share capital  

The authorised and issued share capital remained unchanged 

during the year under review. Details of the authorised, issued 

and unissued share capital at 30 September 2013 are set out in 

note 16 to the financial statements. 

  Shareholding 2013 2012 

  Namibia Post and Telecom-

  munications Holdings Limited 66% 66%

  Africatel Holdings B.V.  34% 34% 

  Total 100% 100%

Dividends Distributed 2013 2012

   N$ ‘000 N$ ‘000

Declared 5 December 2011, 

 paid 9 December 2011 -  5 746 

Declared 5 December 2011, 

 paid 15 December 2011 -   163 254

Declared 6 June 2012, 

 paid 29 June 2012 -   119 368 

Declared 6 June 2012, 

 paid 30 June 2012 -    52 632

Declared 3 December 2012, 

 paid 11 December 2012 61 540   - 

Declared 3 December 2012, 

 paid 2 January 2013 119 460   -

Declared 17 June 2013, 

 paid 5 July 2013 133 980   - 

Declared 17 June 2013, 

 paid 5 July 2013 69 020   - 

Total  384 000  341 000 
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

Dividend declared subsequent to year end 

On 3 December 2013, a dividend of N$ 221 000 000 was 

declared, but has not yet been paid out to the shareholders 

at the date of these financial statements. 

Capital expenditure 

For the year under review, capital expenditure approved was 

N$ 467 million (2012: N$ 415 million) which included capital 

expenditure carried forward from the previous financial year. The 

capital expenditure incurred was N$ 427 million (2012: N$ 407 

million, which was funded out of internal cash generated from 

operations, with the main aim to ensure capacity in the existing 

network and extensive coverage within Namibia. 

Property, plant and equipment 
There has been no change in the nature or use of the group’s and 

company’s property, plant and equipment. 

Subsidiaries  

Details of the company’s interest in its subsidiaries at 30 

September 2013 are set out on page 52 in note 12. 

Directors and secretary  

Particulars of the present directors and secretary are given on 

page 19.

The following directors were appointed during year, effective  

1 October 2013: 

 Itah Kandji-Murangi  (reappointed as chairperson)

 Asser Landulandje Ntinda (reappointed)

 Tulimeke M Munyika  (appointed)

 Alisa Amupolo  (appointed) 

 

The following directors resigned during year, effective  

1 October 2013:

 Liezel Van Wyk

 Dirk H Conradie

Subsequent events  

No events or circumstances which materially affect the interpreta-

tion of the financial statements have arisen between 30 Septem-

ber 2013 and the date of this report.

Shareholding Structure as at 30 September 2013

Namibia Post

100%

NPTH
(Namibia Post and Telecom-

munications Holdings)

Africatel Holdings B. V.
(Portugal Telecom)

Telecom Namibia

100%66%34%



24

   Group                Company

 Notes 2013   2012  2013   2012 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

REVENUE 3 1 831 786    1 616 645   1 831 786    1 616 645 

OTHER INCOME  2 426    1 118   3 037    1 401

TOTAL INCOME  1 834 212    1 617 763   1 834 823    1 618 046

Changes in inventories of finished goods  118 893    83 575   118 893    83 575

Direct costs  302 145    311 757   302 145    311 757

Sales and marketing  74 897    75 160   74 897    75 160

General and administration  152 234    128 236   152 453    128 314

Personnel costs  179 012    159 672   179 012    159 672

Depreciation  205 563    207 730   205 489    207 656

Amortisation  146 460    147 800   146 460    147 800

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 3  655 008    503 833   655 474    504 112 

Finance income 4  17 606    16 742   17 602    16 737

Finance costs 5  12    592   12     592 

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION  672 602    519 983   673 064    520 257

Taxation 7  248 179    167 391   248 269    167 484

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR  424 423    352 592   424 795    352 773

Other comprehensive income  -      -     -      -   

Taxation thereon  -      -     -      -   

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME,        

FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX  424 423    352 592   424 795    352 773

       

Profit attributable to:        

Equity holders of the parent  424 423    352 592   424 795    352 773 

      

Total comprehensive income attributable to:        

Equity holders of the parent  424 423    352 592   424 795    352 773

        

EARNINGS PER SHARE (cents)    

- Basic and diluted 8  1 697,7   1 410,4  1 699,2   1 411,1

DIVIDENDS PAID PER SHARE (cents)  1 536,0    1 364,0   1 536,0    1 364,0

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2013
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   Group                Company

 Notes 2013   2012  2013   2012 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

ASSETS      

NON-CURRENT ASSETS       

Property, plant and equipment 9  1 019 336    1 007 877   1 016 810    1 005 278

Intangible assets 11  257 757    202 729   257 757    202 729

Investment in subsidiaries 12  -      -     2 819     2 874 

Long term deposit 21.3 36 663    393   36 663    393

  1 313 756    1 210 999   1 314 049    1 211 274

CURRENT ASSETS       

Inventories 13  68 930    72 041   68 930    72 041

Trade and other receivables 14  125 049    141 913   125 046    141 899

Cash and cash equivalents 15  314 088    285 490   313 997    285 308

  508 067    499 444   507 973    499 248

TOTAL ASSETS  1 821 823    1 710 443   1 822 022    1 710 522

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES       

CAPITAL AND RESERVES       

Share capital 16  25 000    25 000   25 000    25 000

Retained income  1 148 104    1 107 681   1 148 125    1 107 330

Total equity  1 173 104    1 132 681   1 173 125    1 132 330

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES       

Deferred taxation 17  259 237    259 521   259 437    259 631

  259 237    259 521   259 437    259 631

CURRENT LIABILITIES       

Trade and other payables  18  250 391    207 826   250 349    207 785

Deferred revenue 19  131 882    100 799   131 882    100 799

Taxation 20.2 7 209    9 616   7 229    9 977

  389 482    318 241   389 460    318 561

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  1 821 823    1 710 443   1 822 022     1 710 522  

 

          

  

          

  

          

  

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013
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 Share  Retained Total

 capital income 

 N$’000  N$’000  N$’000 

GROUP 

Balance at 30 September 2011  25 000  1 096 089  1 121 089

Total comprehensive income for the year -   352 592  352 592
 Profit  for the year  -   352 592   352 592 

 Other comprehensive income  for the year  -     -     - 

Ordinary dividends -  (341 000) (341 000)

Balance at 30 September 2012 25 000  1 107 681  1 132 681

Total comprehensive income for the year -   424 423   424 423
 Profit  for the year  -   424 423   424 423 

 Other comprehensive income  for the year  -   -     - 

Ordinary dividends -  (384 000) (384 000)

Balance at 30 September 2013 25 000  1 148 104  1 173 104

COMPANY

Balance at 30 September 2011 25 000  1 095 557  1 120 557

Total comprehensive income for the year -   352 773   352 773
 Profit  for the year  -   352 773   352 773 

 Other comprehensive income  for the year  -   -   - 

Ordinary dividends -  (341 000) (341 000)

Balance at 30 September 2012 25 000  1 107 330  1 132 330

Total comprehensive income for the year  -   424 795   424 795
 Profit  for the year  -   424 795   424 795 

 Other comprehensive income  for the year  -   -     - 

Ordinary dividends -  (384 000) (384 000)

Balance at 30 September 2013 25 000  1 148 125  1 173 125 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2013
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   Group                Company

 Notes 2013   2012  2013   2012 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM        

OPERATING ACTIVITIES       

Cash receipts from customers  1 851 076    1 614 603   1 851 676    1 614 872

Cash paid to suppliers and employees    (732 713)   (729 745)  (732 933)   (729 835)

Cash generated from operations 20.1  1 118 360    884 858   1 118 741    885 037

Finance cost  (12)   (592)  (12)   (592)

Finance income  17 606    16 742   17 602    16 737

Taxation paid 20.2 (250 870)   (190 797)  (251 211)   (190 776)

Net cash flows from operating activities  885 084    710 211   885 120    710 406 

CASH FLOWS FROM

INVESTING ACTIVITIES       

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 9  (222 476)   (207 640)  (222 476)   (207 640)

Acquisitions of intangible assets 11  (204 937)   (123 753)  (204 937)   (123 753)

Proceeds on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment  5 131    340   5 131    340 

Proceeds on disposal on intangibles assets  -      -   -      -   

Construction deposit paid  (36 464)   (393)  (36 464)   (393)

Net movement in subsidiary company loan   -      -     55   (366)

Net cash flows from investing activities  (458 746)   (331 446)  (458 691)   (331 812)

CASH FLOWS FROM

FINANCING ACTIVITIES       

Dividends paid  (384 000)   (341 000)  (384 000)   (341 000)

Net cash flows from financing activities  (384 000)   (341 000)  (384 000)   (341 000)

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND       

CASH EQUIVALENTS  42 338    37 765  42 429    37 594

NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE DIFFERENCES 24.1 (13 740)    2 710 (13 740)    2 710

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS       

AT BEGINNING OF YEAR  285 490    245 015   285 308    245 004

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS       

AT END OF YEAR 15 314 088    285 490   313 997    285 308

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2013
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

1.1 Basis of preparation  

The financial statements set out on pages 23 to 72 are prepared 

on a going concern basis using the historical cost basis, except 

for financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value. All  

monetary information and figures presented in these financial 

statements are stated in thousands of Namibia Dollar (N$’000), 

since that is the functional currency. The policies applied are 

consistent with those applied in the previous year.  

 

 Statement of compliance  

The financial statements of the company and group have been 

prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting  

Standards (IFRS’s) as issued by the International Accounting 

Standards Board (IASB) and the equirements of the Companies 

Act of Namibia. References to the ”group” includes the com-

pany, unless stated otherwise.

  

 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 

The accounting policies adopted by the company and group are 

consistent with those of the previous financial year except as 

follows:   

    

The company has adopted the following new and amended IFRS 

and IFRIC interpretations during the year. The adoption of these 

revised standards and interpretations did not have any effect on 

the financial performance or position of the company. They did 

however give rise to additional disclosures, including in some 

cases, revision to accounting policies.  

The principal effect of these changes are as follows:

 IAS 1 amendment: 

 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

The amendment requires entities to separate items presented in 

other comprehensive income (“OCI”) into two groups based on 

whether or not they may be recycled to profit or loss in the future. 

 

 IAS 12 amendment: Deferred taxes: 

 Recovery of underlying assets (amendment)

The IASB has added another exception to the principles in IAS 12:  

the rebuttable presumption that investment property measured  

at fair value is recovered entirely by sale. The rebuttable  

assumption also applies to the deferred tax liabilities or assets  

that arise from investment properties acquired in a business 

combination if the acquirer subsequently uses the fair value 

model to measure those investment properties. 

 Various improvements to IFRS as issued in May 2012 :

This is a collection of amendments to IFRSs. These amendments 

are the result of conclusions the IASB reached on proposals 

made in its annual improvements project for 2011. The annual 

improvements project provides a vehicle for making non-urgent 

but necessary amendments to IFRSs. Certain amendments  

resulted in consequential amendments to other IFRSs. 

 

 Basis of consolidation  

The group annual financial statements consolidate the financial 

statements of the company and all subsidiaries  as at 30 Septem-

ber each year. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of 

acquisition, being the date on which the group obtains control, 

and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control 

ceases. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared 

for the same reporting year as the parent company, using consis-

tent accounting policies.   

     

Subsidiaries are defined as those companies in which the group, 

either directly or indirectly, has more than one half of the vot-

ing rights, has the right to appoint more than half the board of 

directors or otherwise has the power to control the financial and 

operating  activities of the entity. All entities which the group has 

the ability to control are consolidated from the effective dates of 

acquisition, being the date the group obtains control, up to the 

dates effective control is ceased.   

     

The identifiable assets and liabilities of companies acquired are 

assessed and included in the statement of financial position at 

their fair values as at the date of acquisition.   

     

The company carries its investments in subsidiaries at cost less 

accumulated impairment losses.   

     

All intra-group balances, income and expenses, unrealised gains 

and losses and dividends resulting from intra-group transactions 

are eliminated in full.   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

 Basis of consolidation (continued)

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss 

of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Group 

loses control over a subsidiary, it:

 - Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of  

   the subsidiary;

 - Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling  

  interest;

 -  Derecognises the cumulative translation differences record- 

  ed in equity;

 - Recognises the fair value of the consideration received; and

 - Recognises the fair value of any investment retained.

   

 Set off  

Assets and liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists 

to set off current assets against current liabilities. Deferred tax  

assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforce-

able right exists to set off current tax assets against current tax 

liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity 

and the same taxation authority.  

1.2 Significant accounting judgements, estimations and  

 assumptions  

 Judgements made by management 

The preparation of the group’s consolidated financial statements 

in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judge-

ments, estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts 

and related disclosures. However, uncertainty about these could 

result in actual results that differ from these estimates. Certain 

accounting policies have been identified as involving particularly 

complex or subjective judgements or assessments, as follows:

 Allowance for doubtful debts  

The group has made significant judgements and estimates relat-

ing to allowances for doubtful debts.  This allowance is created 

where there is objective evidence, for example probability of  

insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor, that 

the company will not be able to collect all the amounts due under 

the original terms of the invoice.  An estimate is made with regard 

to the probability of insolvency and the estimated amount of the 

debtors that will not be able to pay.  

 Asset lives and residual values  

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over its useful life 

taking into account residual values, where appropriate. The actu-

al lives of the assets and residual values are assessed annually and 

may vary depending on a number of factors. In reassessing asset 

lives, factors such as technological innovation and maintenance 

programmes are taken into account. Residual value assessments 

consider issues such as future market conditions, the remaining 

life of the asset and projected disposal values.  

 Intangible assets  

Intangible assets are amortised over their finite useful lives. The 

carrying amount of intangible assets is reviewed annually and 

adjusted for impairment if there is an indication that it may be 

impaired.  

 Impairment of non financial assets  

Property, plant and equipment are considered for impairment 

if there is a reason to believe that impairment may be neces-

sary. Factors taken into consideration in reaching such a decision  

include the economic viability of the asset itself and where it is 

a component of a larger economic unit, the viability of that unit 

itself.  Future cash flows expected to be generated by the assets 

are projected, taking into account market conditions and the  

expected useful lives of the assets. The present value of these 

cash flows, determined using an appropriate discount rate, is 

compared to the current net asset value and, if lower, the assets 

are impaired to the present value.

  

 Impairment of intangible assets  

The group determines whether intangible assets are impaired at 

least on an annual basis. This requires estimation of the value in 

use of the intangible assets. Estimating the value in use requires 

the group to make an estimate of the future cash flows associated 

with the respective assets and also to choose a suitable discount 

rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.2 Significant accounting judgements, estimations and  

 assumptions (continued)

 Sources of estimation uncertainty  

There are no key assumptions concerning the future and other 

key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date that 

management have assessed as having a significant risk of causing 

material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets and  

liabilities within the next financial year, except for the assump- 

tions and key sources of estimation uncertainty with regard to 

retention bonuses as disclosed in note 18. 

1.3 Summary of significant accounting policies

 Property, plant and equipment  

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumu-

lated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Such 

cost includes the cost of replacing part of the plant and equip-

ment when that cost is incurred, if the recognition criteria are 

met. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is 

recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment 

as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. Certain 

internal costs, such as materials, work force and transportation, 

incurred to build or produce tangible assets are capitalized if the 

recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance 

costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.    

  

Depreciation is calculated so as to write off the cost of property, 

plant and equipment on a straight line basis, over the estimated 

useful life of the asset to its residual value. Land is not depreci-

ated. Capital work in progress is not depreciated as these assets 

are not yet available for use. Depreciation rates used are: 

    2013 2012 
    per annum per annum
Buildings  5% 5%
Computer and 
prepaid equipment 9.38 - 63.16% 10 - 20%
Network equipment 6.09 - 60% 6 - 26%
Motor vehicles 
(excl. Land Cruisers) 16 - 25% 16 - 25%

Motor vehicles 6.94 - 25% 25%

Furniture and fittings 6.24 - 20% 6 - 20%

Leasehold improvements 16.67 - 33.3% 16.66 - 33.33%

Staff handsets 50% 50%

Projects   50% 50%

Residual values, useful lives and methods are reviewed, and  

adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year end. 

 

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are re-

viewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 

indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. If any such 

indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the esti-

mated recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating units 

are written down to their recoverable amount. The recoverable 

amount of property, plant and equipment is the greater of net 

selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the es-

timated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 

using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assess-

ments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 

asset. Each significant component included in an item of prop-

erty, plant and equipment is separately recorded and depreci-

ated. The depreciation rates corresponds to the estimated aver-

age useful lives  of the  respective assets. For an asset that does 

not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable 

amount  is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the 

asset belongs. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement 

of comprehensive income.    

   

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon 

disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 

to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss  

arising on derecognition of the asset is included in the statement 

of comprehensive income in the year the item is derecognised.  

    

General and special purpose buildings are generally classified 

as owner occupied. They are held at cost and depreciated as  

property, plant and equipment and not regarded as investment 

properties.

  



31

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)
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1.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

 Intangible assets  

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial  

recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets 

are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any  

accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are recognised 

if any future economic benefits are expected and those benefits 

could be reliably measured. Intangible assets consist of software 

licences. The amortisation rate used is:

    2013 2012             

    per annum per annum

Computer software 8 - 70.59% 8 - 33.3% 

Customer bases 10 - 63.15% 10 - 63.15% 

Network software 20 - 33.33% 33.30% 

Licenses  20% 10 - 20%

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite 

or indefinite. Intangibles with finite lives are amortised over the 

useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever  

there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. 

The amortisation expense is recognised in profit or loss in the 

statement of comprehensive income.   

     

The amortisation period and the amortisation method is reviewed 

at each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life 

of the assets are accounted for by changing the amortisation  

period, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting  

estimates.

  Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 

or production of qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the cost 

of such asset.  All other borrowing costs are recognised as an ex- 

pense when incurred.  Borrowing costs consist of interest and other 

costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. 

 

  Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets within the scope of “IAS 39: Financial Instruments 

recognition and measurement”  are classified as financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held to 

maturity investments and available for sale financial assets, as 

appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they 

are measured at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at 

fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction 

costs.    

    

The group determines the classification of its financial assets on 

initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evalu-

ates this designation at each financial year end. At year end the 

group’s financial assets consist of loans and receivables and finan-

cial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.

  Loans and receivables  

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 

fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market. After initial measurement loans and receivables 

are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised 

cost is calculated taking into account any discount or premium 

on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part of the 

effective interest rate and transaction costs. Gains and losses are 

recognised in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive 

income when the loans and receivables are derecognised or 

impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. 

 

  Fair value  

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised 

financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market 

bid prices at the close of business on the reporting date. For  

investments where there is no active market, fair value is deter-

mined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using 

recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current 

market value of another instrument, which is substantially the 

same; discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models.

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss includes financial 

assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon initial 

recognition at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are  

acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near 
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

  (continued) 

term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are

also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as  

effective hedging instruments as defined by IAS 39. Financial  

assets at fair value through profit and loss are carried in the state-

ment of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair  

value recognised as finance costs in profit and loss. Financial 

assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through 

profit and loss are designated at their initial recognition date and 

only if the criteria under IAS 39 are satisfied.

  Impairment of financial assets 

The group assesses at each reporting date whether a financial 

asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

  Assets carried at amortised cost  

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans 

and receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the 

amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the  

asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated  

future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not  

been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective  

interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial 

recognition). The carrying amount of the asset shall be reduced  

either directly or through use of an allowance account. The 

amount of the loss shall be recognised in profit or loss in the 

statement of comprehensive income.     

     

The group first assesses whether objective evidence of impair-

ment exists individually for financial assets that are significant, 

and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not  

significant. If it is determined that no objective evidence of  

impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, 

whether significant or not, the asset is included in a group of  

financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and that 

group of financial assets is collectively assessed for impairment. 

Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for 

which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not  

included in a collective assessment of impairment.  

    

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss  

decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event 

occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 

recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal 

of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss in the statement 

of comprehensive income, to the extent that the carrying value of 

the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. 

    

In relation to trade receivables a provision for impairment is 

made when there is objective evidence (such as the probability of  

insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor) that 

the group will not be able to collect all of the amounts due  

under the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount 

of the receivable is reduced through the use of an allowance  

account. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are  

assessed as uncollectible.  

  Financial liabilities  

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus, 

in the case of loans and borrowings, directly attributable cost.  

Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost where a matu-

rity date exists, or cost if no maturity date exists.   

     

Subsequently amortised cost is calculated on the effective inter-

est rate method. Gains and losses on subsequent measurement 

are taken to profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive  

income.  

  Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

  Financial assets 

The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from 

the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash 

flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-

through’ arrangement; and either 

 - the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and  

  rewards of the asset, or 

 - the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially  

  all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred  

  control of the asset.  
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1.3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

  Financial liabilities (continued)  

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the 

liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.  

  Offsetting of financial instruments  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net 

amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial posi-

tion if, and only if: There is a currently enforceable legal right to 

offset the recognised amounts and There is an intention to settle 

on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 

simultaneously 

  Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and short term deposits in the statement of financial posi-

tion comprise cash at banks and at hand and short term deposits

with an original maturity of three months or less. Cash and cash 

equivalents are classified as loans and receivables and are subse-

quently recognised at amortised cost.  

    

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, 

cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as  

defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

  Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable 

value. Cost is incurred in bringing each product to its present 

location and condition are accounted for by  using the weighted 

average cost per item purchased during the financial year. Net  

realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 

course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the 

estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the group has a present obligation 

(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable 

that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will 

be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can 

be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the group 

expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example 

under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised 

as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually 

certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the 

statement of comprehensive income net of any reimbursement. 

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions 

are discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where 

appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting 

is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time 

is recognised as a finance cost.  

  Defined contribution plans  

Contributions in respect of defined contribution plans are recog-

nised as an expense in the year to which they relate. 

 Leases  

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the 

lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership  

to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.

 Group as lessor  

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded 

as receivables at the amount of the group’s net investment in 

the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to the accounting  

periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the 

group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-

line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs in-

curred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added 

to the carrying amount of the lease payments and recognised on 

a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

 Group as lessee  

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as the 

assets of the group at their fair value at the inception of the lease 

or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.  

The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the state-

ment of financial position as a finance lease obligation.  

    

Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and 

reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant  

rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  Finance 

charges are charged directly to profit or loss, unless they are 
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 Group as lessee (continued)

directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are 

capitalised in accordance with the group’s general policy on bor-

rowing costs.  Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in 

the periods in which they incurred.   

     

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a 

straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another sys-

tematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 

economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.  Contin-

gent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an 

expense in the period in which they are incurred.  

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into  

operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.  

The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction 

of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another 

systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in 

which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 

 Revenue recognition  

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 

economic benefits will flow to the group and the revenue can 

be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of 

the consideration receivable, excluding discounts, rebates, and 

other sales taxes or duty. The group invoices independent service 

providers for the revenue billed by them on behalf of the group, 

when the deliverables are used.   

   

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met  

before revenue is recognised:

 Post-paid products  

Post-paid products may include deliverables such as a SIM-card, 

a handset and a fixed period service and are defined as arrange-

ments with multiple deliverables. The arrangement consideration 

is allocated to each deliverable based on the fair value of each 

deliverable on a standalone basis as a percentage of the aggre-

gated fair value of the individual deliverables. 

Based on usage commencing on activation date. Unused airtime 

is deferred in full and recognised in the month of usage or on 

termination of the contract by the subscriber. 

Revenue allocated to the identified deliverables in each revenue  

arrangement and the cost applicable to these identified deliver-

ables are recognised based on the same recognition criteria of 

the individual deliverable at the time the product or service is 

delivered.  

 - Revenue from connect packages, which includes activa- 

  tion, SIM-cards and phone, is recognised over the period  

  of the contract.  

 - Revenue from SIM-cards, representing activation fees, is  

  recognised upon activation of the SIM-card by the post- 

  paid customer.

  

 - Revenue from handsets is recognised when the product is  

  delivered.  

 -  Monthly service revenue received from the customer is  

  recognised in the period in which the service is rendered.

 -  Airtime revenue is recognised on the usage basis. 

 

 Pre-paid products 

Pre-paid products may include deliverables such as a SIM-card, a 

handset and airtime and are defined as arrangements with mul-

tiple deliverables. The arrangement consideration is allocated to 

each deliverable based on the fair value of each deliverable on 

a standalone basis as a percentage of the aggregated fair value 

of the individual deliverables. Revenue allocated to the identi-

fied deliverables in each revenue arrangement and the cost  

applicable to these identified deliverables are recognised based 

on the same recognition criteria of the individual deliverable at 

the time the product or service is delivered.  

 - Revenue from SIM-cards, representing activation fees, is  

  recognised upon activation of the SIM-card by the pre- 

  paid customer.  

 -  Airtime revenue is recognised on the usage basis. The  

  unused airtime is deferred in full.  

 -  Deferred revenue related to unused airtime is recognised  

  when utilised by the customer.
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 Pre-paid products  (continued)

Upon termination of the customer contract, all deferred revenue 

for unused airtime is recognised in revenue.   

     

Deferred revenue and costs related to unactivated starter packs, 

which do not contain any expiry date, are recognised in the  

period when the probability of these starter packs being activat-

ed becomes remote.  

 Data service revenue  

Revenue net of discounts, from data services is recognised when 

the company has performed the related service and depending 

on the nature of the service, is recognised either at the gross 

amount billed to the customer or the amount receivable by the 

company as commission for facilitating the service. 

 Sale of equipment  

Revenue from equipment sales are recognised when the product 

is delivered and acceptance has taken place.   

     

Revenue from equipment sales to third party service providers is 

recognised when delivery is accepted. No rights of return exist on 

sale to third party service providers.  

 Interconnect and international revenue  

Interconnect and international revenue is recognised on the  

usage basis.

  

 Interest  

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective  

interest method that is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial  

instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset).

 Royalty income  

Royalty income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance 

with the substance of the relevant agreement.  

 Rental income  

Rental income arising from operating leases of the base stations 

and other equipment are recognised on a straight line basis over 

the lease terms.  

 Foreign currency translation  

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the 

functional currency spot rate ruling at the date of the transaction. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 

are re-translated at the functional currency spot rate of exchange 

ruling at the reporting date. All differences are taken to profit  

or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost 

in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as 

at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items mea-

sured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. 

The gain or loss arising on retranslation of non-monetary items is 

treated in line with the recognition of gain or loss on change in 

fair value of the item.  

The functional currency of the group is Namibia Dollar. 

 Taxes  

 Current tax 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods 

are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or 

paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to 

compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively 

enacted by the reporting date. 

 Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all tem-

porary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases 

of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 

reporting purposes.   

     

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary 

differences.
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 Deferred tax (continued)   

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary 

differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax 

losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 

available against which the deductible temporary differences, 

carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be 

utilised.   

     

In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with  

investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only recog-

nised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differ-

ences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit 

will be available against which the temporary difference can be  

utilised.   

    

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each 

reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 

probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow 

all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.  Unrecognised 

deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date 

and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable 

that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be 

recovered.   

     

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 

rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 

realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) 

that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 

date.    

  

Current and deferred tax relating to items recognised directly in 

equity is recognised in equity and not in the statement of com-

prehensive income.  

 Value added tax 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount 

of value added tax except:  

 - where the value added tax incurred on a purchase of 

   assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation 

   authority, in which case the value added tax is recognised 

   as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as 

   part of the expense item as applicable; and 

 - receivables and payables that are stated with the amount  

  of value added tax included.  

The net amount of value added tax recoverable from, or payable 

to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or pay-

ables in the statement of financial position.

2. IFRSs AND IFRIC INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET  
 EFFECTIVE  

The following standards, amendments and interpretations are not 

yet effective and have not been early adopted by the company 

(the effective dates stated below refer to periods beginning on or 

after the stated dates):  

 Effective for periods commencing on or after 01 January 2013 

 IFRS 1 amendment: First-Time Adoption of International   

 Financial Reporting Standards 

 The amendments effectively add an exception to the retro- 

 spective application of IFRSs to require that first-time  

 adopters apply the requirements in IFRS 9 - Financial Instru- 

 ments and IAS 20 - Accounting for Government Grants 

  and Disclosure of Government Assistance prospectively to 

  government loans existing at the date of transition to IFRSs. 
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 Effective for periods commencing on or after 01 January 2013

 (continued)

  IFRS 7 amendment: Financial Instruments: Disclosures

 Amendments require entities to disclose gross amounts sub- 

 ject to rights of set-off amounts set off in accordance with  

 the accounting standards followed and the related net credit  

 exposure. This information will help investors understand  

 the extent to which an entity has set off in its statement of  

 financial position and the effects of rights of set-off on the  

 entity’s rights and obligations.

 IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements

 IFRS 10 replaces all of the guidance on control and consoli- 

 dation in SIC 12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities  

 and IAS 27 - Consolidated and Separate Financial State- 

 ments. IAS 27 is renamed “Separate Financial Statements”  

 and it continues to be a standard dealing solely with sepa- 

 rate financial statements. IFRS 10 changes the definition of  

 control so that the same criteria are applied to all entities to  

 determine control. It also provides additional guidance to  

 assist in the determination of control where this is difficult to  

 assess.

 IFRS 11 - Joint arrangements

 This new standard deals with the accounting for joint  

 arrangements. Changes in the definitions have reduced the  

 “types” of joint arrangements to two: joint operations and  

 joint ventures. The existing policy choice of proportionate  

 consolidation for jointly controlled entities has been elimi- 

 nated. Equity accounting is mandatory for participants in  

 joint ventures.

 IFRS 12 - Disclosure of interest in other entities

 This standard includes the disclosure requirements for all  

 forms of interests in other entities, including joint arrange- 

 ments, associates, special purpose vehicles and other off  

 statement of financial position vehicles.

 IAS 27 amendment: Separate financial statements

 IAS 27 has been renamed ‘Separate financial statements’  

 and it continues to be a standard dealing solely with sepa- 

 rate financial statements. The existing guidance for separate  

 financial statements is unchanged.

 IAS 28 amendment: Investments in associates and joint 

 ventures

 IAS 28 now includes the requirements for joint ventures as  

 well as associates to be equity accounted following the issue 

 of IFRS 11 - Joint arrangements.

 IFRS 13 - Fair value measurement

 This standard aims to improve consistency and reduce com- 

 plexity by providing a precise definition of fair value and a  

 single source of fair value measurement and disclosure  

 requirements for use across IFRSs.

 IAS 19 revised: Employee benefits

 Recognition of actuarial gains and losses

 Actuarial gains and losses are renamed ‘remeasurements’  

 and will be recognised immediately in OCI. These gains and 

 losses will no longer be deferred using the corridor approach  

 and no longer be recognised in profit or loss.

 Recognition of past-service cost and curtailment

 Past-service costs will be recognised in the period of a plan  

 amendment; unvested benefits will no longer be spread  

 over a future-service period. A curtailment now occurs only  

 when an entity significantly reduces the number of employ- 

 ees. Curtailment gains or losses are accounted for as past- 

 service costs.

 Measurement of pension expenses

 Annual expenses for a funded benefit plan will include net  

 interest expense or income calculated by applying the dis- 

 count rate to the net defined benefit asset or liability. This  

 will replace the finance charge and expected return on plan  

 assets and will increase benefit expenses for most entities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

2. IFRSs AND IFRIC INTERPRETATIONS NOT 
 YET EFFECTIVE (continued)

 Effective for periods commencing on or after 01 January 2013

 (continued)

 Presentation in the statement of other comprehensive income

 There will be less flexibility in the presentation of the state- 

 ment of OCI. Benefit costs will be split between (i) the cost  

 of benefits accrued in the current period (service cost) and  

 benefit changes (past-service cost settlements and curtail- 

 ments); and (ii) finance expenses or income. This analysis can  

 be in the statement of OCI or in the notes.

 Disclosure requirements

 Additional disclosures are required to present the charac- 

 teristics of benefit plans, the amounts recognised in the  

 financial statements and the risk arising from defined benefit  

 plans and multi - employer plans.

 The distinction between ‘short-term’ and ‘other long-term’  

 benefits

 The distinction between ‘short-term’ and ‘other long-term’  

 benefits for measurement purposes is based on when pay- 

 ment is expected not when payment can be demanded.  

 An obligation measured as a long-term benefit could there- 

 fore be presented as a current liability when the entity ex- 

 pects to settle after more than one year but does not have  

 the unconditional ability to defer settlement for more than  

 one year.

 Treatment of expenses and taxes relating to employee 

 benefit plans

 Taxes related to benefit plans should be included either in  

 the return on assets or the calculation of the benefit obliga- 

 tion depending on their nature. Investment management  

 costs should be recognised as part of the return on assets  

 and other costs of running a benefit plan should be recog- 

 nised as period costs when incurred.

 Termination benefits

 Any benefit that has a future-service obligation is not a ter- 

 mination benefit. This will reduce the number of arrange- 

 ments that meet the definition of termination benefits. A  

 liability for a termination benefit is recognised when the  

 entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination  

 benefit or recognises any related restructuring costs.

 Risk or cost-sharing features

 The measurement of obligations should reflect the substance 

  of arrangements where the employer’s exposure is limited  

 or where the employer can use contributions from employ- 

 ees to meet a deficit. This may reduce the defined obliga- 

 tion in some situations.

 IFRIC 20 - Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a 

 Surface Mine

 This Interpretation applies to waste removal costs that are in- 

 curred in surface mining activity during the production phase  

 of the mine. It addresses the recognition of production strip- 

 ping costs as an asset initial measurement of the stripping  

 activity asset and subsequent measurement of the stripping 

 activity asset.

 IFRIC 21 Levies

 IFRIC 21 provides guidance on when to recognise a liability  

 for a levy imposed by a government, both for levies that are  

 accounted for in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contin- 

 gent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’ and those where the  

 timing and amount of the levy is certain.

 Effective for periods commencing on or after 01 January 2014

 IAS 32 amendment: Financial Instruments: Presentation

 The amendments require entities to disclose gross amounts  

 subject to rights of set-off, amounts set off in accordance with  

 the accounting standards followed and the related net credit  

 exposure. This information will help investors understand the  

 extent to which an entity has set off in its statement of finan- 

 cial position and the effects of rights of set-off on the entity’s  

 rights and obligations.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

2. IFRSs AND IFRIC INTERPRETATIONS NOT 
 YET EFFECTIVE (continued)

 Effective for periods commencing on or after 01 January 2014

 (continued)

 IAS 36 Disclosures of recoverable amounts of impaired 

 assets (amended)

 The IASB has issued amendments to IAS 36 - Impairment of  

 Assets, to clarify the disclosure requirements about the re- 

 coverable amount of impaired assets if that amount is based  

 on fair value less costs of disposal. The amendments clarify  

 the IASB’s original intention: that the scope of these disclo- 

 sures is limited to the recoverable amount of impaired assets  

 that is based on fair value less costs of disposal.

 IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements (amended)

 The amendment provides provide an exception to the con- 

 solidation requirement for entities that meet the definition of  

 an investment entity. The exception to consolidation requires  

 investment entities to account for subsidiaries at fair value  

 through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial  

 Instruments.

 

Effective for periods commencing on or after 01 January 2015

 IFRS 7/9 Mandatory effective date and transition disclosures

 Mandatory effective date for IFRS 9 is 1 January 2015.  

 Amendments to IFRS 7 depend on when IFRS 9 is 

 adopted and affect the extent of comparative information  

 required to be disclosed.

 IFRS 9 Presentation of items of other comprehensive income

 This, the first phase of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39  

 in its entirety, addresses the classification and measurement  

 of financial instruments. Amendments published in October  

 2010 incorporate the existing derecognition principles of  

 IAS 39 directly into IFRS 9.

 Financial assets

 All financial assets are initially measured at fair value. Subse- 

 quent measurement of debt instruments is only at amortised  

 cost if the instrument meets the requirements of the ‘busi- 

 ness model test’ and the ‘characteristics of financial asset  

 test’. All other debt instruments are subsequently measured  

 at fair value. All equity investments are subsequently mea- 

 sured at fair value either through other comprehensive in- 

 come (OCI) or profit and loss. Embedded derivatives con- 

 tained in non-derivative host contracts are not separately  

 recognised. Unless the hybrid contract qualifies for amor- 

 tised cost accounting, the entire instrument is subsequently  

 recognised at fair value through profit and loss.

 Financial liabilities

 For liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss,  

 the change in the fair value of the liability attributable to  

 changes in credit risk is presented in OCI. The remainder of  

 the change in fair value is presented in profit and loss. All  

 other classification and measurement requirements in IAS 39  

 have been carried forward into IFRS 9.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

   Group                Company

  2013   2012  2013   2012 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

3. PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS     

 Profit from operations is stated after:       

 Income       

 REVENUE  1 831 786    1 616 645   1 831 786    1 616 645

 Contract  561 158    496 172   561 158    496 172

 Connection fees  2 681    2 561   2 681    2 561

 Call charges  195 332    188 411   195 332    188 411

 Monthly subscription fees  356 894    299 284  356 894    299 284 

 Other income  6 251    5 916   6 251    5 916 

 Prepaid  1 034 745    899 598   1 034 745    899 598

 Starter packs  8 597    7 028   8 597    7 028

 Call charges  1 023 555    889 452   1 023 555    889 452 

 Other income  2 593    3 118   2 593    3 118

 

 Roaming income   66 386    68 138   66 386    68 138

 Contract  11 606    11 431   11 606    11 431 

 Visitors  54 780    56 707   54 780    56 707

 Handset and accessories sales  89 475    74 927   89 475    74 927

 Interconnect income  55 461    56 068   55 461    56 068

 Bulk SMS Revenue  17 439    15 121   17 439    15 121 

 Site rental  7 122    6 621   7 122    6 621 

 Income from subsidiaries   

 - Management fees - Jurgens 34 (Pty) Ltd  -    -    311     283 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

   Group                Company

  2013   2012  2013   2012 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

3. PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS (continued)

 Expenses       

 Auditors’ remuneration  1 086    967   1 053    937 

 - audit fees  1 086    967   1 053    937

 Depreciation - property, plant and equipment  205 563    207 730   205 489    207 656 

 Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  3 968    4 297   3 968    4 297

 Amortisation - intangible asset  146 460    147 800   146 460    147 800

 Operating lease expense       

 - premises  39 937    55 631   40 350    55 911

 - subsidiary - Jurgens 34 (Pty) Ltd  -      -     413    280

 - shareholder - NPTH Limited 26 11 804    10 633   11 804    10 633

 - unrelated parties  6 623    24 514   6 623    24 514 

 - other  467    521   467    521 

 - radio sites and other  21 043    19 963   21 043    19 963 

 Fees for services - consulting fees  1 676    4 785   1 673    4 785 

 Staff costs  179 012    159 672   179 012    159 672

 - salaries and wages  157 034    139 594   157 034    139 594

 - pension fund contributions  8 868    7 993   8 868    7 993

 - medical aid contributions  7 415    6 715   7 415     6 715 

 - staff training  2 379    1 465   2 379    1 465 

 - other staff cost  3 316    3 905   3 316    3 905 

 Number of employees at year end  465    428   465    428

4. FINANCE INCOME       

 Interest received - loans and receivables  17 606    16 742   17 602    16 737 

   17 606    16 742   17 602    16 737

5. FINANCE COSTS       

 

 Interest paid - loans and receivables  12    592    12    592 

   12    592    12    592
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

   Group                Company

  2013   2012  2013   2012 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

6. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND 
 KEY MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION       

 Executive directors:       

 - emoluments as executives  3 768    3 986   3 768    3 986 

   3 768    3 986   3 768    3 986

 Non - executive directors:       

 - fees as directors  778     738    778     738 

 Total directors’ emoluments  4 546    4 724   4 546    4 724 

 Key management (excluding directors):       

 Short term employee benefits  15 701    14 029   15 701    14 029 

 Long term employee benefits  785     701   785     701 

   16 486    14 730   16 486    14 730 

7. TAXATION       

 Namibian normal tax       

 - Current income tax  248 463    176 187   248 463    176 187

 - Deferred tax

  - change in tax rate  ( 7 636)  - ( 7 636)  -

  - prior period correction  -  - -  -

  - relating to temporary differences  7 352  (8 797) 7 442  (8 704) 

    248 179    167 390   248 269     167 483

 Reconciliation of tax rate  %   % %  %

 Standard tax rate                                                  34.0                           34.0                              34.0                            34.0

 Adjusted for:

 Permanent differences                                                    2.9                          (1.8)                                2.9                            (1.8)

  Effective tax rate                                                  36.9                          32.2                              36.9                            32.2 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

   Group                Company

  2013   2012  2013   2012 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

8. EARNINGS PER SHARE      

 RECONCILIATION OF HEADLINE 

 EARNINGS       

 Profit after taxation  424 423    352 592   424 795    352 773

 Adjusted for:       

 - Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  3 968     4 297   3 968     4 297  

 HEADLINE EARNINGS  428 391    356 889   428 763    357 070  

 WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES 

 IN ISSUE (‘000)  25 000    25 000   25 000    25 000

 EARNINGS PER SHARE (Cents)       

 - Basic and diluted  1 697,7   1 410,4  1 699,2   1 411,1

 - Headline  - basic and diluted  1 713,6   1 427,6  1 715,1   1 428,3 

 Group 

 Basic and diluted earnings per share       

 The calculation is based on a profit of N$ 424 423 000 (2012: profit N$ 352 592 000) and on the weighted average of 25 000 000  

 (2012: 25 000 000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.     

 Headline earnings per share       

 The calculation is based on a profit of N$ 428 391 000 (2012: profit of N$ 356 889 000) and the weighted average of 25 000 000  

 (2012: 25 000 000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

 Company 

 Basic and diluted earnings per share       

 The calculation is based on a profit of N$ 424 795 000 (2012: profit N$ 352 773 000) and on the weighted average of 25 000 000  

 (2012: 25 000 000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.     

 Headline earnings per share       

 The calculation is based on a profit of N$ 428 763 000 (2012: profit N$ 357 070 000) and on the weighted average of 25 000 000  

 (2012: 25 000 000) ordinary shares in issue during the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

  2013 Land and  Computer Vehicles, Network  Work in Leasehold Total

  Group buildings  and furniture equipment progress improve-

    prepaid and fittings   ments

    equipment

   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Cost       

  Balance at beginning of year 3 329   26 871   46 888  1 816 486   10 075   16 954  1 920 603 

  Additions -   37 405   7 084   100 834   46 403    30 750   222 476  

  Disposals -   (12 659)  (7 618) (139 292)  -   (6 449) (166 018)

  Transfer -     -    104   8 376   (8 480)    -    -

  Transfer to intangible assets -   -   -   -  (1 435)  -  (1 435)

  Transfer from construction deposit -   -   194   -     -   -   194

  Adjustment -     3 635   -    (3 124)  (5)   2    508

  Balance at end of year 3 329   55 252   46 652  1 783 280   46 558   41 257  1 976 328 

 

  Accumulated depreciation       

  Balance at beginning of year (729) (15 474) (29 060) (854 468)  -  (12 995) (912 726)

  Depreciation for the year (74) (14 662)  (7 284) (178 840)  -  (4 703) (205 563)

  Disposals -   12 642   7 321   135 439   -   6 449   161 851

  Adjustment  -   1 551   18       (2 123)   -   -  (554) 

  Balance at end of year (803) (15 943) (29 005) (899 992)    -  (11 249) (956 992)

  Carrying value       

  At end of year 2 526   39 309   17 647  883 288   46 558  30 008  1 019 336 

  At beginning of year 2 600   11 397   17 828   962 018   10 075   3 959   1 007 877 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

  2013 Land and  Computer Vehicles, Network  Work in Leasehold Total

  Company buildings  and furniture equipment progress improve-

    prepaid and fittings   ments

    equipment

   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Cost       

  Balance at beginning of year -   26 871   46 888  1 816 483   10 077   16 954  1 917 273 

  Additions -   37 405   7 084   100 834   46 403    30 750   222 476 

  Disposals -   (12 659)  (7 618)  (139 292)  -   (6 449) (166 018)

  Transfer -   -   104   8 376   (8 480)  -    -

  Transfer to intangible assets -   -   -   -  (1 435)  -  (1 435) 

  Transfer from construction deposit -   -   194   -     -   -   194

  Adjsutment -   3 635   -    (3 121)   (7)   2    509

  Balance at end of year -   55 252   46 652  1 783 280   46 558   41 257  1 972 999 

  Accumulated depreciation       

  Balance at beginning of year -  (15 472) (29 060) (854 468)  -  (12 995) (911 995)

  Depreciation for the year -  (14 662) (7 284) (178 840)  -  (4 703) (205 489)

  Disposals -   12 642   7 321   135 439   -   6 449  161 851 

  Adjustment -   1 549  18   (2 123)   -   -   (556)

  Balance at end of year -  (15 943) (29 005) (899 992)    -  (11 249) (956 189)

  Carrying value       

  At end of year -   39 309   17 647   883 288   46 558   30 008  1 016 810 

  At beginning of year -  11 399   17 828   962 015   10 077   3 959   1 005 278

During the year under review, certain components of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets was transferred to different 

asset groups to ensure that assets are included in the component group where it best reflects the nature of the assets. This reclassifica-

tion resulted in an additional expense of N$ 45 000 recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 30 September 2013. The effect on 

profit or loss in future periods have been taken into account in note 10 with regards to the change in accounting estimate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 

  2012 Land and  Computer Vehicles, Network  Work in Leasehold Total

  Group buildings  and furniture equipment progress improve-

    prepaid and fittings   ments

     equipment

   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Cost       

  Balance at beginning of year 3 329   19 369   44 532  1 619 261   16 961   19 687  1 723 139 

  Additions -   8 757   6 807   179 437   11 786   853   207 640 

  Disposals -  (1 255)  (4 514) (69 886)    -    (3 586)  (79 241)

  Transfer -    -   63   12 117  (12 180)   -     - 

  Transfer to intangible assets -   -   -       -  (6 492)    -  (6 492)

  Transfer to operating expenditure -   -   -       75 113  -    -  75 113 

  Adjustment -   -   -    444    -     -  444

  Balance at end of year 3 329   26 871   46 888  1 816 486   10 075   16 954  1 920 603 

  Accumulated depreciation       

  Balance at beginning of year (655) (12 429)  (26 050) (731 450)    -  (12 822) (783 406)

  Depreciation for the year (74) (4 279)  (7 231) (192 394)    -  (3 752) (207 730)

  Disposals -   1 234   4 221   69 376     -     3 579   78 410 

  Balance at end of year (729) (15 474) (29 060) (854 468)    -  (12 995) (912 726)

  Carrying value       

  At end of year 2 600   11 397   17 828   962 018   10 075   3 959   1 007 877 

  At beginning of year 2 674   6 940   18 482   887 811   16 961   6 865  939 733     
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

  2012 Land and  Computer Vehicles, Network  Work in Leasehold Total

  Company buildings  and furniture equipment progress improve-

    prepaid and fittings   ments

     equipment

   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Cost       

  Balance at beginning of year -   19 369   44 532  1 619 258   16 963   19 687  1 719 809 

  Additions -   8 757   6 807   179 437   11 786   853   207 640 

  Disposals -  (1 255)  (4 514) (69 886)    -    (3 586)  (79 241)

  Transfer -    -   63   12 117  (12 180)   -     - 

  Transfer to intangible assets -   -   -       -  (6 492)    -  (6 492)

  Transfer to operating expenditure -   -   -       75 113  -    -  75 113

  Adjustment -   -   -    444    -     -  444 

  Balance at end of year -   26 871   46 888  1 816 483   10 077   16 954  1 917 273 

  Accumulated depreciation       

  Balance at beginning of year -  (12 428) (26 050) (731 450)  -  (12 822) (782 750)

  Depreciation for the year -  (4 279)  (7 231) (192 394)    -  (3 752) (207 656)

  Disposals -   1 235   4 221   69 376     -     3 579   78 411 

  Balance at end of year -  (15 472) (29 060) (854 468)    -  (12 995) (911 995)

  Carrying value       

  At end of year -   11 399   17 828   962 015   10 077   3 959   1 005 278 

  At beginning of year -  6 941   18 482   887 808   16 963   6 865  937 059 

  Additions were financed from cash resources.      

  Land and buildings comprise the following:  Sectional titles unit 6 (186 m²) and unit 9 (210 m²) of United Buildings, erf 7640,  

  Windhoek.

10.  CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATE      

  In the current year the residual values and estimated useful lives of all categories of property, plant and equipment were reassessed  

  in accordance with IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment. This resulted in a change in the estimated remaining useful life of prop- 

  erty plant and equipment which has increased current year profits by N$ 28,383 million (2012 decreased by N$ 20,173 million).  

  This increase in profit will result in increased depreciation charges in future periods of the same amount.   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

11.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

  2013   Computer Network  Customer Licences Total

  Group   software software bases  

     N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Cost       

  Balance at beginning of year   14 497   120 435   284 024   12 066   431 022 

  Additions   9 878   22 320   172 151     588   204 937 

  Transfer from property, plant and equipment   64     1 371     -   -   1 435 

  Adjustment   18 (1) 6 247 (6 490) (226)

  Disposals   (1 870) (770) (118 980) (4 349) (125 969)

  Balance at end of year   22 587   143 355   343 442   1 815   511 199 

  Accumulated amortisation and impairment       

  Balance at beginning of year   (5 109) (70 447) (148 431) (4 306) (228 293)

  Amortisation for the year   (6 077) (12 208) (127 091) (1 084) (146 460)

  Adjustment   226 2 (2) 1 227

  Disposals   1 870    770  114 095    4 349   121 084 

  Balance at end of year   (9 090) (81 883) (161 429) (1 040) (253 442)

  

  Carrying value       

  At end of year   13 497   61 472   182 013   775  257 757 

  At beginning of year   9 388   49 988   135 594   7 759   202 729 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

11.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

  2013   Computer Network  Customer Licences Total

  Company   software software bases  

     N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Cost       

  Balance at beginning of year   14 268   120 435   284 024   12 068   430 795 

  Additions   9 878   22 320   172 151    588   204 937 

  Transfer from property, plant and equipment   64    1 371     -   -   1 435 

  Adjustment   247 (1) 6 247 (6 492) 1

  Disposals   (1 870) (770) (118 980) (4 349) (125 969)

  Balance at end of year   22 587   143 355   343 442   1 815   511 199 

  Accumulated amortisation       

  Balance at beginning of year   (4 880) (70 447) (148 431) (4 306) (228 064)

  Amortisation for the year   (6 077) (12 208) (127 091) (1 084) (146 460)

  Adjustment   (3) 2 (2) 1  (2)

  Disposals   1 870    770   114 095    4 349   121 084

  Balance at end of year   (9 090) (81 883) (161 429) (1 040) (253 442)

  Carrying value       

  At end of year   13 497   61 472   182 013   775   257 757 

  At beginning of year   9 388   49 988   135 594   7 761   202 729 

  Additions were financed from cash resources.

  During the year under review, certain components of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets was transferred to differ- 

  ent asset groups to ensure that assets are included in the component group where it best reflects the nature of the assets. This  

  reclassification resulted in an additional expense of N$45 000 recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 30 September 2013.  

  The effect on profit or loss in future periods have been taken into account in note 10 with regards to the change in accounting  

  estimate. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

11.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

  2012   Computer Network  Customer Licences Total

  Group   software software bases  

     N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Cost       

  Balance at beginning of year   13 168   108 211   274 207  5 623   401 209 

  Additions   5 938  12 866   104 949    -   123 753 

  Transfer from property, plant and equipment   -   -   -     6 492   6 492

  Adjustment   -     -    -     -    - 

  Disposals   (4 609) (642) (95 132) (49) (100 432)

  Balance at end of year   14 497   120 435   284 024   12 066   431 022 

  Accumulated amortisation and impairment       

  Balance at beginning of year   (5 855) (34 928) (132 473) (3 419) (176 675)

  Amortisation for the year   (3 828) (36 161) (106 874) (937) (147 800)

  Disposals   4 574    642   90 916    49   96 182 

  Balance at end of year   (5 109) (70 447) (148 431) (4 306) (228 293)

  Carrying value       

  At end of year   9 388   49 988   135 594   7 759  202 729 

  At beginning of year   7 313   73 283   141 734   2 204   224 534
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

11.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

  2012   Computer Network  Customer Licences Total

  Company   software software bases  

     N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Cost       

  Balance at beginning of year   12 939   108 211   274 207   5 624   400 981 

  Additions   5 938   12 866   104 949    -   123 753 

  Transfer from property, plant and equipment   -   -   -    6 492   6 492

  Adjustment   -     -    -     -    - 

  Disposals   (4 609) (642) (95 132) (49) (100 432)

  Balance at end of year   14 268   120 435   284 024   12 067   430 794 

  Accumulated amortisation       

  Balance at beginning of year   (5 626) (34 928) (132 473) (3 419) (176 446)

  Amortisation for the year   (3 828) (36 161) (106 874) (937) (147 800)

  Disposals   4 574    642   90 916    50   96 182 

  Balance at end of year   (4 880) (70 447) (148 431) (4 306) (228 064)

  Carrying value       

  At end of year   9 388   49 988  135 594   7 760  202 729 

  At beginning of year   7 313   73 283   141 734  2 205   224 535 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

12.  INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

       Ownership         Company

      2013  2012  2013   2012

       % % N$’000  N$’000

   Jurgens 34 (Proprietary) Limited       

   Shares at cost   100    100    458     458 

   Intercompany loan to Jurgens 34 (Pty) Ltd     2 361    2 416 

   Windhoek General Administrators (Proprietary) Limited      

   Shares at cost   100    100     -      -

   Indebtedness       - - -      - 

  MTC Social Responsibility Trust

  Shares at cost       -     -     -      - 

   Intercompany loan        -     -     -      -

           2 819    2 874

   The intercompany loan, has no fixed repayment terms and does not bear interest. 

   Attributable to Mobile Telecommunications Limited      

   Aggregate (loss)/profits after tax     (22)    2 576

   Group                Company

  2013   2012  2013   2012 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

13. INVENTORIES

 Network consumables  11 846    18 890   11 846    18 890

 Subscriber identity modules  14 875    16 121   14 875    16 121 

 Handset and accessories  42 209    37 030   42 209    37 030 

   68 930    72 041   68 930    72 041

 Inventory carried at net realisable value  12 220    18 432   12 220    19 775 

 The amount of write-down of inventories recognised as an expense is N$ 3 800 915 (2012: N$ 5 062 535).  
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   Group                Company

  2013   2012  2013   2012 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES       

 Prepayments and deposits  16 703    18 759   16 703    18 757

 Customers to the mobile network after provisions 95 779    111 892   95 779    111 892

 Interconnect debtors  1 679    1 858    1 679    1 858

 Other receivables  10 888    9 404   10 885    9 392

   125 049    141 913   125 046    141 899

 Provisions for doubtful debts included in the above      

 Balance at beginning of the year  (9 129)  (8 558) (9 129)  (8 558)

 Utilised during the year  4 336    1 550   4 336    1 550

 Additionally provided  (5 151)  (2 121) (5 151)  (2 121)

 Balance at end of the year  (9 944)  (9 129) (9 944)  (9 129)

 Trade receivables are generally on 30 - 60 days terms.     

15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS       

 Cash at bank and in hand  171 306    95 461   171 215    95 279

 Short-term bank deposits  142 782    190 029   142 782    190 029

 Cash and cash equivalents  314 088    285 490  313 997    285 308

 Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Cash and cash equivalents comprises 

 cash held by the group and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. The carrying amount of these  

 assets approximate their fair value.      

16. SHARE CAPITAL       

 Authorised and issued       

 25 000 000 ordinary shares of N$1 each  25 000    25 000   25 000    25 000 

   25 000    25 000   25 000    25 000
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   Group                Company

  2013   2012  2013   2012 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

17. DEFERRED TAXATION       

 The movement on the deferred taxation 

 account is as follows:      

 

 Balance at beginning of year  259 521    268 318   259 631    268 333 

 Income statement charge  (284)  (8 797) (194)  (8 704) 

 At end of year  259 237    259 521   259 437    259 631 

 Comprising:      

 Deferred income tax assets       

 - Income received in advance  (49 415)  (39 472) (49 415)  (39 472)

 - Unrealised forex gain  -     (1 078)  -     (1 078)

 - Provisions  (2 754)    (2 591)  (2 754)    (2 591)

 - Straight lining of leases  (2 338)  (722) (2 338)  (722)

   (54 507)  (43 863) (54 507)  (43 863)

 Deferred income tax liabilities       

 - Capital allowances  303 129    184 523   303 329    184 631

 - Inventories  3 911    113 244   3 911    113 244

 - Prepayments  4 742    5 617   4 742    5 617

 - Unrealised forex loss  1 962    -     1 962    -

   313 744    303 384   313 944    303 492 

 Net deferred tax liability  259 237    259 521   259 437    259 631
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   Group                Company

  2013   2012  2013   2012 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

 Trade payables  93 709    99 709   93 701    99 703 

 Accruals  133 842    94 926   133 807    94 891 

 VAT payable  17 936    10 338   17 936    10 338

 Other payables  4 904    2 853   4 905    2 853 

   250 391    207 826   250 349    207 785

 

 Payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.     

 The company accumulates 13% of a staff member’s average cost to company package over five years of service and pays 70%  

 and 30% of the accumulated value out to that employee after the fifth and seventh year of service respectively, provided the  

 employee reached a performance score of 70% or higher in each of the five years. As this expense is dependent upon an uncertain  

 future occurrence, the provision made reflects only an estimate.      

 

 The retention bonus cycle repeats itself from year six.      

 The reconciliation between the opening balance and closing balance of the retention bonus included in accruals is as follows: 

 

 Opening balance at beginning of the year  3 360    1 941   3 360    1 941 

 Paid during the year  (3 360)  (853) (3 360)  (853)

 Provision for current year  1 532    2 272   1 532    2 272 

 Closing balance at end of the year  1 532    3 360   1 532     3 360

 Current  1 532    3 360   1 532    3 360

   1 532    3 360   1 532    3 360
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   Group                Company

  2013   2012  2013   2012 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

19. DEFERRED REVENUE

 At the beginning of the year  100 799    89 564   100 799    89 564 

 Airtime sold during the year   1 249 609    1 077 385  1 249 609    1 077 385 

 Airtime utilised during the year  (1 218 526)   (1 066 150)  (1 218 526)   (1 066 150)

 At the end of the year  131 882    100 799   131 882    100 799 

 Current   131 882    100 799   131 882    100 799 

 Total   131 882    100 799   131 882    100 799  

20. NOTES TO STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 20.1 Cash generated by operations       

  Profit before taxation  672 602    519 983  673 064    520 257

  Adjustments for :       

  Amortisation  146 460    147 800   146 460    147 800 

  Depreciation  205 563    207 730    205 489    207 656 

  Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  3 968    4 297   3 968    4 297

  Operating expenditure transferred from 

  work in progress   -  -  -   -

  Finance cost  12    592  12    592

  Finance income  (17 606)   (16 742)  (17 602)   (16 737)

  Other non cashflow items  -   -  -    -

  Foreign exchange movement on cash and 

  cash equivalents  13 740   (2 710)   13 740   (2 710)

  Operating profit before working 

  capital changes  1 024 739    860 950   1 025 131    861 155

  Working capital changes   93 621    23 908  93 610    23 882

  Decrease in inventories   3 111   1 099   3 111    1 099

  Decrease / (increase) in trade and 

  other receivables  16 862   (3 160)   16 852   (3 174)

  Increase in deferred revenue  31 083    11 235   31 083    11 235

  Increase / (decrease) in trade and 

  other payables  42 565    14 734  42 564    14 722

  Cash generated by operations  1 118 360    884 858   1 118 741    885 037
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   Group                Company

  2013   2012  2013   2012 

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

20. NOTES TO STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

 20.2 Taxation paid       

  Payable at the beginning of the year  9 616    24 226   9 977    24 566 

  Taxation charged to the income statement,

  excluding deferred taxation  248 463    176 187   248 463    176 187 

  Payable at the end of the year  (7 209)   (9 616)  (7 229)   (9 977)

  Amounts paid  250 870    190 797   251 211    190 776

21. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

 21.1 Capital commitments      

  Commitments in respect of capital expenditure:     

  Approved and contracted for 

  Network expansions  271 644    103 836   271 644    103 836 

  Retail stock  29 371    30 371   29 371    30 371 

  Other - property, plant and equipment  6 008      26 597   6 008      26 597

     307 023    160 804   307 023    160 804 

  Approved and not contracted for       

  Network expansions  66 364    211 858   66 364    211 858 

  Retail stock  88 113    91 114   88 113    91 114 

  Other - property, plant and equipment  13 882    5 494   13 882    5 494 

    168 359    308 466   168 359    308 466 

  This expenditure will be financed from cash generated from normal business operations.
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21.  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (continued)

  21.2 Operating lease commitments - lessee       

     Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows as of 30 September:  

 

     Group and Company                               Premises   

     2013     Radio sites Offices/Shops  Total

          N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

     Within one year       21 555     18 453    40 008 

     After one year but not more than five years      436 273   21 649    457 922 

     More than five years        542 863    74 525    617 388 

            1 000 692     114 627    1 115 318 

     Group and Company     

     2012        

     Within one year       20 688  14 217    34 905  

     After one year but not more than five years      85 120   53 157    138 277 

     More than five years       415 879     50 633    466 512 

            521 687    118 007    639 694 

  21.3 Other commitments        

     Construction deposits        

     At 30 September 2013 the group had entered into other commitments relating to the MTC business continuity project,  

     DWDM expansion project and the RAN Swap II project. Deposits paid before 30 September 2013 relating to work in prog- 

     ress on these projects amounted to N$ 36.663 million. The final payment for these projects will be done during the 2014  

     financial year, upon completion of the capital projects.       

 

     The construction deposit balance at 30 September 2012 of N$ 393 112 related to prepayments made for equipment for the  

     new MTC commercial centre , which was opened in May 2013.

22.  RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION       

  The company operates a defined contribution scheme, the MTC Pension Fund (registration number 25/7/7/390), providing  

  benefits based on the contributions of an employee and is administered by Alexander Forbes. This fund is registered under and  

  governed by the Pension Funds Act, 1956 as amended. The fund will be valued every three years. The members of the fund can  

  elect to contribute 7% or the maximum of 14 %, which will be matched by the employer by the % elected of the members’ 

  pensionable salaries. All contributions of the company are charged to profit and loss in the statement of comprehensive income  
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22.  RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION (continued)
  as incurred. Employer contributions for the year are disclosed in note 3. The fair value of the fund’s investments as at the funds’  

  year end at 28 February 2013 were N$ 92 464 612 (2012: N$ 71 796 633).  

  In addition to the pension fund, the company also operates a group life scheme covering 100% of the total number of employ- 

  ees in cases of death and/ or permanent disability.        

 

  The group does not currently bear and is in no way contractually liable for the cost of funding post retirement medical aid benefits. 

  The contribution to the Medical Aid Fund should an employee choose to continue membership of the scheme on retirement, is 

  payable by the retiree.       

  A statutory actuarial valuation was performed on 28 February 2013 and the valuation reported that the fund was in a sound financial  

  position.   

23.  BANK OVERDRAFT        

  The company has unsecured overdraft facilities at First National Bank Namibia totalling N$ 1 million (2012: N$ 1 million). The facility  

  has expired at year end, but is currently under review. The EFT ( same day service ) at Standard bank is N$ 5 Million , whilst the  

  Debit and Credit Run facility is N$ 30 Million from Standard bank. The group has an pre-settlement FEC facility at First National  

  Bank Namibia of N$ 20 Million (2012 : N$ 30 million) and a FEC Trading facility at Standard Bank of N$ 40 Million.

24.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES     

  The group’s principal financial liabilities, other than derivatives, comprise shareholder’s loans and trade payables. The group has no  

  interest bearing borrowings. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise finance for the group’s operations. The group  

  has various financial assets such as trade receivables and cash and short-term deposits, which arise directly from its operations. The  

  main risks arising from the group’s financial instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.   

      

  There has been no significant change during the financial year, or since the end of the financial year, to the types of financial risks  

  faced by the group, the approach to measurement of these financial risks or the objectives, policies and processes for managing  

  these financial risks.         

 

  The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised below.

  24.1 Foreign currency risk management       

     Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because  

     of changes in foreign exchange rates.
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24.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

  24.1 Foreign currency risk management (continued)

     The group incurs currency risk as a result of the following transactions which are denominated in a currency other than  

     Namibia Dollar or South African Rand: purchases of equipment, consulting fees and borrowings.  The currencies which pri- 

     marily give rise to currency risk are the US Dollar (USD); Euro (EU) and Swiss Francs (CHF). The group hedges its exposure to  

     fluctuations on the translation into USD of its foreign creditors by using foreign exchange contracts.

     At 30 September 2013, the group has not hedged any ( 2012: none) of its foreign currency creditors for which firm commit- 

     ments existed at the reporting date.       

     The group and the company normally pay all foreign amounts due close to order / delivery date.

     Foreign exchange losses / (gains) recognised in the statements of comprehensive income:

   Group         Company

  2013   2012  2013   2012

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

     - realised loss/(gain)   13 740   (2 710)  13 740   (2 710) 

     - unrealised (gain)/loss   (6 905)  3 168 (6 905)  3 168 

     The following table details the group’s sensitivity to the below-mentioned percentage strengthening and weakening in the  

     functional currency against the relevant foreign currencies. This percentage is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign  

     currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible  

     change in foreign exchange rates.        

     The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign-denominated monetary items and adjusts their translations at the  

     period end for the specified percentage change in foreign currency rates.    

     For the same percentage weakening of the functional currency against the relevant currency, there would be an equal and  

     opposite impact on the profit before taxation.       

     There were no changes in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the foreign currency sensitivity analysis.



61

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

24.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

  24.1 Foreign currency risk management (continued)       

         Group          Company      

     Effect on profit before tax of amounts included in 

     trade payables at year end:   2013   2012  2013   2012  

        N$’000   N$’000  N$’000   N$’000 

     USD        

     Effect on profit before tax        

     Increase of 5% in USD exchange rate  (2 307)   (2 854)  (2 307)   (2 854

     Decrease of 5% in USD exchange rate  2 307    2 854   2 307    2 854 

     Euro        

     Effect on profit before tax        

     Increase of 5% in Euro exchange rate  (1 040)   (187)  (1 040)   (187)

     Decrease of 5% in Euro exchange rate  1 040    187   1 040    187 

     Swiss Francs        

     Effect on profit before tax        

     Increase of 5% in Swiss Francs exchange rate  (54)   (60)  (54)   (60)

     Decrease of 5% in Swiss Francs exchange rate  54    60   54    60

     Group and Company        

     At year end the following foreign currency denominated amounts were included in trade payables, for which no forward  

     cover was taken:

       2013  Conversion rate at 2012 Conversion rate at 

        N$’000 30 September 2013  N$’000 30 September 2012

     United States Dollars    46 148  10.05   57 073  8.31 

     Euro   20 803   13.60   3 730 10.68            

     Swiss Francs   1 077     8.85  1 194   8.85 

     At year end the following foreign currency 

     denominated amounts were included in

     roaming debtors, for which no forward 

     cover was taken:       

     United States Dollars   14 576   10.05   10 582  8.31 
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24.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

  24.2 Credit risk management        

     Credit risk is related to the risk of a third party failing with its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the group. 

        

     The group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. It is the group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade  

     on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing 

      basis with the result that the group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. In addition to this reputable financial institu- 

     tions are used for investing and cash handling purposes. The maximum credit exposure is the carrying amount as disclosed  

     in Note 14. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the group.    

     With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the company, which comprise cash and cash equivalents  

     and short tem deposits with well known reputable Namibian banks, the company’s exposure to credit risk arises from default  

     of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these balances.   

     There has been no significant change during the financial year, or since the end of the financial year, to the group’s exposure  

     to credit risk, the approach to the measurement or the objectives, policies and processes for managing this risk.

     Financial assets exposing the group and company to credit risk:

         Group          Company

  2013   2012  2013   2012

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

 Cash and cash equivalents  314 088    285 490   313 997    285 308 

 Trade and other receivables - Namibia 110 473    131 331   110 470    131 317 

 Trade and other receivables - non-Namibian 14 576    10 582   14 576    10 582 

   439 137    427 403   439 043    427 207 

 No terms of financial assets were renegotiated.
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24.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

  24.2 Credit risk management (continued)

 With respect to trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired, there are no indications as of the report- 

 ing date that the debtors will not meet their payment obligations.

         Group          Company

  2013   2012  2013   2012

  N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

 Neither past due nor impaired  103 069    114 345   103 066    114 331 

 Past due but not impaired:       

 - between 30 and 60 days  9 910    24 084   9 910    24 084 

 - between 60 and 90 days  7 801    901    7 801    901 

 - more than 90 days  4 269    2 583  4 269    2 583 

 Net carrying amount  125 049    141 913   125 046    141 899

  24.3 Liquidity risk management

     These risks may occur if the sources of funding, including operating cash flows, credit lines and cash flows obtained from  

     financing operations, do not match with the group’s financing needs, such as operating and financing outflows, investments,  

     shareholder remuneration and debt repayments.       

     The group has minimised its risk of illiquidity by ensuring that it has adequate banking facilities and reserve borrowing  

     capacity.        

     The group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using monthly management accounts and general cash flow projections. 
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24.  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

  24.3 Liquidity risk management (continued)       

     The table below summarises the maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities at 30 September based on contractual  

     undiscounted payments.
     On demand Less than 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 > 5
   Group    months months years years
   2013   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

   Trade and other payables   -     250 391   -     -     -   

      -     250 391   -     -     - 

   Group

   2012   

   Trade and other payables   -     207 826   -      -   -   

      -     207 826   -      -   - 

     On demand Less than 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 > 5
   Company    months months years years
   2013   N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

   Trade and other payables   -     250 349   -     -     -   

      -     250 349   -     -     - 

   Company

   2012     

   Trade and other payables   -     207 785   -      -   -   

      -     207 785   -      -   - 

  24.4 Capital management    

   The primary objective of the company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating in order to  

   support its business and maximise shareholder value.  

   The capital structure of the group consists of debt, cash and cash equivalents and equity.  

   The company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To main- 

   tain or adjust the capital structure, the company may issue new shares or obtain additional funding from its shareholders.

   No changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes during the years ended 30 September 2013 and  

   30 September 2012.  

   The group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS      

  25.1 Categories of financial instruments        
 
        At fair value 

        through profit  Finance Financial Equity and 

       Loans or loss: lease liabilities at non-financial 

       and Held for receivables amortised assets and 

  2013  Notes  Total receivables  trading  and payables cost liabilities 

  Group  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Assets       

  Non-current assets       

  Property, plant and

  equipment 9  1 019 336   -     -     -     -     1 019 336 

  Intangible assets 11  257 757   -     -     -     -     257 757 

  Long term deposit 21.3 36 663    -   -     -     -     36 663

  Current assets       

  Inventories 13  68 930   -     -     -     -     68 930 

  Trade and other receivables 14  125 049   125 049   -     -     -     -   

  Cash and cash equivalents 15  314 088   314 088   -     -     -     -   

  Total assets  1 821 823   439 137   -     -     -     1 382 686 

  Equity       

  Ordinary share capital 16  25 000   -     -     -     -     25 000 

  Retained income  1 148 104   -     -     -     -     1 148 104 

  Equity attributable to equity       

  holders of the parent  1 173 104   -     -     -     -     1 173 104 

  Total equity  1 173 104   -     -     -     -     1 173 104 

  Non-current liabilities       

  Trade and other payables 18  -     -     -     -     -     -

  Deferred taxation 17  259 237   -     -     -     -     259 237 

  Current liabilities       

  Trade and other payables 18  250 391   -     -     -     250 391   -   

  Deferred revenue 19  131 882   -     -     -     -     131 882 

  Taxation payable 20.2  7 209   -     -     -     -    7 209 

  Total liabilities  648 719   -     -     -     250 391   398 328 

  Total equity and liabilities  1 821 823   -     -     -     250 391   1 571 432 
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25.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)      

  25.1 Categories of financial instruments (continued)

        At fair value 

        through profit  Finance Financial Equity and 

       Loans or loss: lease liabilities at non-financial 

       and Held for receivables amortised assets and 

  2013  Notes  Total receivables  trading  and payables cost liabilities 

  Company  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Assets

  Non-current assets       

  Property, plant and       

  equipment 9  1 016 810   -     -     -     -     1 016 810 

  Intangible assets 11  257 757   -     -     -     -     257 757 

  Investment in subsidiaries 12  2 819   -     -     -     -     2 819 

  Long term deposit 21.3 36 663   -   -     -     -     36 663

  Current assets       

  Inventories 13  68 930   -     -     -     -     68 930 

  Trade and other receivables 14  125 046   125 046   -   -     -     -   

  Cash and cash equivalents 15 313 997   313 997   -     -     -     -   

  Total assets  1 822 022   439 043   -   -     -     1 382 979 

  Equity       

  Ordinary share capital 16  25 000   -     -     -     -     25 000 

  Retained income  1 148 125   -     -     -     -     1 148 125 

  Equity attributable to equity       

  holders of the parent  1 173 125   -     -     -     -     1 173 125 

  Total equity  1 173 125   -     -     -     -     1 173 125 

  Non-current liabilities       

  Deferred taxation 17  259 437   -     -     -     -     259 437 

  Current liabilities       

  Trade and other payables 18  250 349   -     -     -     250 349   -   

  Deferred revenue 19  131 882   -     -     -     -     131 882 

  Taxation payable 20.2  7 229   -     -     -     -     7 229 

  Total liabilities  648 897   -     -     -      250 349   398 548 

  Total equity and liabilities  1 822 022   -     -     -      250 349   1 571 673

 



67

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

25.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)      

  25.1 Categories of financial instruments (continued)

        At fair value 

        through profit  Finance Financial Equity and 

       Loans or loss: lease liabilities at non-financial 

       and Held for receivables amortised assets and 

  2012  Notes  Total receivables  trading  and payables cost liabilities 

  Group  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Assets       

  Non-current assets       

  Property, plant and       

  equipment 9  1 007 877   -     -     -     -     1 007 877 

  Intangible assets 11  202 729   -     -     -     -     202 729 

  Long term deposit 21.3 393    -   -     -     -    393   

  Current assets       

  Inventories 13  72 041   -     -     -     -     72 041 

  Trade and other receivables 14  141 913   141 913   -   -     -     -   

  Cash and cash equivalents 15  285 490   285 490   -     -     -     -   

  Total assets  1 710 443   427 403   -   -     -     1 283 040 

  Equity       

  Ordinary share capital 16  25 000   -     -     -     -     25 000 

  Retained income  1 107 681   -     -     -     -    1 107 681 

  Equity attributable to equity       

  holders of the parent  1 132 681   -     -     -     -     1 132 681 

  Total equity  1 132 681   -     -     -     -     1 132 681 

 

  Non-current liabilities       

  Trade and other payables 18  -   -  -  -  -   -

  Deferred taxation 17  259 521   -     -     -     -     259 521 

  Current liabilities           

  Trade and other payables 18  207 826   -     -     -     207 826   -   

  Deferred revenue 19  100 799   -     -     -     -     100 799 

  Taxation payable 20.2  9 616   -     -     -     -      9 616 

  Total liabilities  577 762   -     -     -     207 826   369 936 

  Total equity and liabilities  1 710 443   -     -     -     207 826   1 502 617
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25.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)      

  25.1 Categories of financial instruments (continued)

        At fair value 

        through profit  Finance Financial Equity and 

       Loans or loss: lease liabilities at non-financial 

       and Held for receivables amortised assets and 

  2012  Notes  Total receivables  trading  and payables cost liabilities 

  Company  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000  N$’000

  Assets

  Non-current assets       

  Property, plant and       

  equipment 9  1 005 278   -     -     -     -     1 005 278 

  Intangible assets 11  202 729   -     -     -     -     202 729 

  Investment in subsidiaries 12  2 874   -     -     -     -     2 874 

  Long term deposit 21.3 393   -   -  -  -  393

  Current assets       

  Inventories 13  72 041   -     -     -     -     72 041 

  Trade and other receivables 14  141 899   138 223   3 676   -     -     -   

  Cash and cash equivalents 15  285 308   285 308   -     -     -     -   

  Total assets  1 710 522   423 531   3 676   -     -     1 283 315 

  Equity       

  Ordinary share capital 16  25 000   -     -     -     -     25 000 

  Retained income  1 107 330   -     -     -     -     1 107 330 

  Equity attributable to equity       

  holders of the parent  1 132 330   -     -     -     -     1 132 330 

  Total equity  1 132 330   -     -     -     -     1 132 330 

  Non-current liabilities       

  Trade and other payables 18  -   -   -   -   -   - 

  Deferred taxation 17  259 631   -   -   -   -     259 631 

  Current liabilities       

  Trade and other payables 18  207 785   -     -     -     207 785   -   

  Deferred revenue 19  100 799   -     -     -     -     100 799 

  Taxation payable 20.2  9 977   -     -     -     -     9 977 

  Total liabilities  578 192   -     -     -     207 785   370 407 

  Total equity and liabilities  1 710 522   -     -     -    207 785   1 502 737
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

25.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)      

  25.2 Fair values

    The fair values of all financial instruments are substantially the same as the carrying values reflected in the statements of  

    financial positions, for both the Group and the Company.     

  25.3 Fair value hierarchy       

    The group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation  

    technique:       

    Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets of liabilities.   

    Level 2:  other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded value are observable, either  

      directly or indirectly.       

    Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observ- 

     able market data.       

    Valuation techniques:       

    Cash and cash equivalents are valued at their fair value based on their carrying value in an active market.  

    Forward contracts are valued by marking to market the forward contract with the exchange rate prevalent on each day in an  

    active market.       

    Trade and other receivables are valued at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, which substantially equals  

    their fair value.       

    Trade and other payables are valued at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, which substantially equals  

    their fair value.       

    The long term liability is discounted at the effective discount rate applicable to the risks associated with this financial instrument.

    As at 30 September 2013, the group did not hold any financial instruments measured at fair value (2012: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AT 30 SEPTEMBER 2013 (continued)

26.  RELATED PARTIES

  Related party relationships exist between the company and its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiary, shareholders and key management.  

  All transactions with related parties occurred under terms no less favourable than those arranged with third parties.

  26.1 Subsidiaries     

    Details of income and expenditure relating to subsidiaries and investments in subsidiaries are disclosed in notes 3 and 12  

    respectively. No interest is charged on loans to subsidiaries.   

  26.2 Key management   

    The key management personnel of the company comprise the directors and the general managers.  Amounts paid to key  

    management are disclosed under directors’ emoluments and key management remuneration in note 6.  

  26.3 Shareholders       

    The shareholders of the company are noted in the directors’ report. The only significant transactions related to the share- 

    holders are rentals paid, management fees paid and interconnect fees paid to the shareholders.  

  26.4 Fellow subsidiary      

    The company has an interconnect agreement with a fellow subsidiary regarding call traffic between the two companies and  

    rent fibre optic lines for its operations from the fellow subsidiary.

    Summary of balances and transactions with related parties

   Group         Company

  2013   2012  2013   2012

   N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

 Balance receivable from fellow subsidiaries:       

 - Telecom Namibia  1 679    1 858   1 679    1 858

 - Telecom Other  1 434    868   1 434    868

 - PT Comunicacoes SA  710     1 660   710      1 660 

 - PT SI - Sistemas de Informacoa SA  -      146    -      146

 - Nampost Courier   43   8 021  43   8 021

 - Telecom Namibia  267    -   267    - 

 Balance receivable from fellow subsidiaries 

 included in other receivables:      

 - PT Comunicacoes SA  710      1 660   710      1 660 

 - PT SI - Sistemas de Informacao   -      146    -      146 
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26.  RELATED PARTIES (continued)

  26.4 Fellow subsidiary (continued)

  Summary of balances and transactions with related parties (continued)

   Group         Company

  2013   2012  2013   2012

   N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

 Balance payable to shareholder:       

 - NPTH   (1 105)   -  (1 105)   -

 Balance payable receivable from shareholder:      

 - NPTH   12    -   12    - 

 Balance payable to fellow subsidiaries:       

 - PT Investments Internacionais - 

   Consultoria Internacional SA  (266)   (398)  (266)   (398)

 - PT Comunicacoes SA  (3 347)   (2 665)  (3 347)   (2 665)

 - PT Inovacao  4 920   -  4 920   -

 - PT SI - Sistemas de Informacao SA   (4 241)   (706) (4 241)   (706)

 - Nampost Courier   -   (29)  -   (29)

 Property, plant and equipment purchased 

 from subsidiaries:        

 - PT Inovacao  62 970    -   62 970    - 

 - PT SI Sistemas de Informacao  2 803    -  2 803    - 

 Management fees paid to PT Investimentos: 3 491    3 585   3 491    3 585 

 Rent paid to NPTH Limited: Shareholder: 11 804    10 633   11 804    10 633

 Lease line received from Subsidaries: 

 - PT Comunicacoes, SA  (1 030)     (703)    (1 030)     (703) 

 Lease line paid to fellow Subsidaries: 

 - Telecom Namibia  60 028    84 402   60 028    84 402 

 Postage and Courier charges paid to Fellow subsidary: 

 - Nampost  5 183    4 586   5 183    4 586

 Telephone and fax paid to Telecom Namibia: 636    427  636    427
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26.  RELATED PARTIES (continued)

  26.4 Fellow subsidiary (continued)

  Summary of balances and transactions with related parties (continued)

   Group         Company

  2013   2012  2013   2012

   N$’000  N$’000 N$’000  N$’000

 Net site rentals paid to Telecom Namibia 2 429    2 780   2 429    2 780

 Net interconnect fees received from fellow subsidiary:
 - Telecom Namibia  11 158    13 922   11 158    13 922

 Net interconnect fees paid to fellow subsidiaries:

 - PT Comunicacoes, SA  12 085    6 960   12 085    6 960

 Interconnect debtors disclosed in Note 14, are included in the balance receivable from fellow subsidiary, Telecom Namibia.


